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FY2019 
Report on Operations and Accomplishments  

 
 

Name of Public Authority:  New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation  
       (a/k/a “NYCEEC”) 
 
 
Background and Mission: 
 
 The New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (a/k/a “NYCEEC”, pronounced 
“NY-SEEK”) is a New York 501(c)(3) not-for-profit, specialty finance company that 
provides financing for energy efficiency and clean energy projects. As of the end of 
FY2019, NYCEEC has a fulltime staff of 13 professionals with a broad range and depth 
of experience. 
 
 As a not‐for‐profit specialty lender, NYCEEC has a mission: “to deliver financing 
solutions and advance markets for energy efficiency and clean energy in buildings.”  
Impact is NYCEEC's primary concern, yet at the same time, to achieve continued 
impact, NYCEEC continues to try to ensure the sustainability of the organization.  The 
following discusses both NYCEEC's impact and some of the key elements of NYCEEC's 
sustainability as a lender.1 
 
 

Significant Accomplishments in FY2019: 

 Overall, NYCEEC’s impact in FY2019 showed an increase over the prior year, 
with an increased focus on low- and moderate-income sector and more robust credit 
underwriting, both of which are intended to strengthen NYCEEC’s foundation for 
far‐greater future growth in impact. A snapshot of NYCEEC's FY2019 impact metrics 
are summarized below. 
 
 
Projected Impact Metric    June 30, 2018   June 30, 2019   Change 
Clean Energy Projects Financed (MM)  $142    $152    6.6% 

Buildings Upgraded    212    220    3.6% 

Affordable Housing Units                4,978    5,395    7.7% 

 
Other notable accomplishments for NYCEEC in FY2019 include: 

• financed 10 new projects, for total clean energy project costs financed by 
NYCEEC of approximately $152 million as of June 2019; 

• continued to work on deepening its partnerships with the City of New York and 
the New York State government; 

• worked with the City of New York to successfully pass legislation authorizing a 
commercial Property Assessed Clean Energy program in New York City, for 
which NYCEEC is expected to be the program administrator;  

• increased focus on the low- and moderate-income sector (7 of the 10 
transactions closed in FY 2019 involved affordable housing properties); 

 
1 The information provided here is based on the co-CEO's June 18, 2019 Letter to the NYCEEC Board of 
Directors and the May 1, 2019 NYCEEC Performance Metrics update. 
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• continued to "advance the field" in several ways, through consulting with green 
banks, partnering with participants in new low- and moderate-income retrofit 
models, working to establish new pre‐development loan programs, speaking at 
conferences, publishing case studies, and serving as a model for other 
community based clean energy lenders and local green banks; 

• augmented its credit framework by revising credit underwriting guidelines, and 
enhancing risk management and construction surveillance processes and 
procedures; 

• explored several new funding sources and worked on creating new financing 
partnerships; 

• hired a new co-CEO; and 
• pursued new grant opportunities. 
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Audited Financials 

 

See Annex 
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Description of Grants and Subsidies 

 

In FY 2019 NYCEEC did not make any grants nor give any subsidies. 
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Operating and Financial Risks 
 

 NYCEEC is exposed to various risks of loss-related to torts; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; non-repayment of loans according to their terms; errors and 

omissions; and injuries to employees.  NYCEEC has established various policies, procedures 
and other internal control structures to mitigate these risks and also carries commercial 

insurance coverage for these risks.   
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Description of Bond Ratings 

 

In FY 2019 NYCEEC did not issue any bonds nor have any bonds outstanding. 
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Long Term Liabilities 
 

During fiscal year 2019, the corporation subleased office space in Manhattan.  The sublease 

started on September 14, 2018 and extends through October 31, 2027.  The sublease is 

more fully described in the corporation’s audited financial statements for FY 2019. 

During fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC maintained a contributory, defined-contribution 401(k) 

plan covering all employees who met specific eligibility requirements.  This plan is more fully 

described in the corporation’s audited financial statements for FY 2019. 

During fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC had borrowed funds from various lenders, including the 

Deutsche Bank Americas Foundation, FJC (a New York not-for-profit corporation), Bank of 

America, the MacArthur Foundation and Deutsche Bank.  As of the end of FY 2019, NYCEEC 

owed approximately $21.7 million under these loans.  These loans are more fully described 

in the corporation’s audited financial statements for FY 2019. 
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FY2019 

Authority Mission Statement and Performance Measurements 
 
 

Name of Public Authority: New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation   
            (“NYCEEC”)   

 
 

Public Authority's Mission Statement:  

 

The mission of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation is to “deliver financing 

solutions and advance markets for energy efficiency and clean energy in buildings.”  

Date Adopted:  February 6, 2019  

Performance Goals:  NYCEEC’s performance goals for fiscal year 2019 are displayed 

in the table below. 
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Performance Results:1  

In fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC financed 10 new projects, 7 of which were for affordable 

housing properties.  As of the end of fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC’s lifetime financing for 

clean energy projects has enabled approximately $152 million in project costs and the 
upgrading of 220 Buildings and 5,395 affordable housing units. 

 
In fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC “advanced the field” by consulting for local green banks, 

which included receiving a $50,000 award in connection with assisting the launch of a 
municipal green bank.  Furthermore, during fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC worked with the 

City of New York to successfully pass legislation authorizing a commercial Property 
Assessed Clean Energy (“PACE”) program in New York City, for which NYCEEC will be 

the program administrator.  

Overall, NYCEEC showed strong performance in fiscal year 2019.  

 
1 The information provided here is based on the co-CEO's June 18, 2019 Letter to the NYCEEC Board of 

Directors and the May 1, 2019 NYCEEC Performance Metrics update. 
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Schedule of Bonds and Notes 
 

See “Schedule of Authority Debt” in PARIS Annual Report for FY 2019 
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Employee Compensation Schedule 
 

See “Staff Listing” in PARIS Annual Report for FY 2019 
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Biographies of NYCEEC Board of Directors and Staff 

As of June 30, 2019 

 

Directors  -  as of June 30, 2019 

1. Jeff Brodsky 

2. Mark Chambers 

3. Kim Darga  

4. Ashok Gupta 

5. Greg Hale 

6. Marc Khouzami 

7. Sadie McKeown 

8. Renwick Paige 

9. Bruce Schlein 

10. Elizabeth Zeldin 

 

Staff  -  as of June 30, 2019 

1. Posie Constable 

2. Erangi Dias 

3. Peter Erwin 

4. Mayra Kalisch 

5. Michael Kerstetter 

6. Naeemah Lajoie 

7. Susan Leeds 

8. Fred Lee 

9. Jessica Luk 

10. Jay Merves 

11. Patrick O'Donnell 

12. Curtis Probst 
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Jeff Brodsky  –  NYCEEC Director 
Vice Chairman 

Related Companies 
 

Jeffrey Brodsky is Vice Chairman of Related Companies where he works closely with 
Related’s executive team to optimize business development and drive improved 

performance and results, across the platform and internationally.  
 

Mr. Brodsky is a member of the Real Estate Board of New York Residential Management 

Council and the recipient of its 2006 George M. Brooker Management Executive of the year 
award, the Board of Directors of the Corporation for Supportive Housing, the National 

Housing Conference, the National Leased Housing Association, the Realty Advisory Board of 
N.Y., and the Homeland Security Task Force of the Real Estate roundtable.  He is the 2009 

recipient of the Institute for Real Estate Management (IREM) NY Chapter Certified Property 
Manager of the Year Award, and is Chairman of Urban Green, the US Green Building Council 

chapter in New York. 
 

Mr. Brodsky holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Mechanical Engineering from Rensselaer 

Polytechnic Institute and received a Master’s degree in Business Administration from New 
York University. 

 
Mr. Brodsky was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in May of 2011.  
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Mark Chambers  –  NYCEEC Director 
Director 

NYC Mayor’s Office of Sustainability 
 

Mark Chambers most recently served as the Director of Sustainability and Energy for the 
Government of the District of Columbia, where he led an interdisciplinary team at the 

Washington D.C. Department of General Services to creatively implement energy 
management and resource conservation efforts across 30 million square feet of real estate, 

spanning all the District’s property assets including municipal offices, public schools, public 

housing, libraries, homeless shelters, data centers, emergency management services and 
parks and recreation facilities.  In this role, he helped lead the development, administration 

and implementation of the District’s SustainableDC commitments, most notably negotiating 
the nation’s largest municipal wind and solar renewable power purchase agreements.  An 

urbanist and licensed architect, Chambers has dedicated his career to working on high 
performance design, zero waste policy and City scale building energy efficiency, with a focus 

on equitable economic growth, public engagement and promoting transparency through 
data and innovation. 

 

Chambers holds a bachelors degree in Architecture as well as a masters degree in Public 
Policy and Management with a concentration in urban and regional economic development 

from Carnegie Mellon University in Pittsburgh, PA. He and his wife live in Washington 
Heights with their two children. 

 
Mr. Chambers was designated by the City to serve on NYCEEC’s board in June of 2017. 
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Kim Darga–  NYCEEC Director 
Associate Commissioner of the Division of Preservation  

New York City Department of Housing Preservation and Development  
 

Kim Darga is the Associate Commissioner of the Division of Preservation at the New York 
City Department of Housing Preservation and Development (HPD), which includes the 

divisions of Preservation Finance and Property Disposition and Finance. In this role, she 
leads the agency’s preservation-focused strategic initiatives and financing programs, 

including development and implementation of initiatives in Housing New York and Housing 

New York 2.0 – the City’s plan to build and preserve 300,000 affordable units. Kim oversees 
HPD’s preservation pipeline, including the financing of multifamily, single-family, and mixed-

use affordable housing.  
 

Prior to joining HPD, Kim worked in various economic development and urban planning 
capacities in New York and elsewhere. Kim received a M.P.P from University of Michigan. 

 
Ms. Darga was first appointed to serve as a NYCEEC director in December of 2018. 
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Ashok Gupta  –  NYCEEC Director 
Senior Energy Economist 

NRDC 
 

Ashok Gupta is Senior Energy Economist at the Natural Resources Defense Council  (NRDC), 
a non-profit organization of scientists, lawyers and environmental specialists dedicated to 

protecting public health and the environment with 1.2 million members, where he works 
with his colleagues on global warming policies, electric utility regulation, energy efficiency, 

renewables, sustainable building design and reducing petroleum dependence. He was 

previously Director of Programs at NRDC as well as the Director of the Air/Energy Program. 
He has been with NRDC since 1991. 

 
Mr. Gupta served as NRDC’s representative on Mayor Bloomberg’s Sustainability Advisory 

Board and Energy Policy Task Force. He received the US Green Building Council’s 2007 
Leadership Award for Advocacy, the Environmental Steward Award from Solar One in 2006, 

the Environmental Professional of the Year Award from the Association of Energy Engineers 
in 2003, and the Environmental Advocates’ 2001 Advocate Award for leadership in support 

of clean air and energy. Mr. Gupta also serves on the Boards of Directors of the Coalition for 

Environmentally Responsible Economies, Building Energy Exchange, PACE Now, and 
Bridging the Gap. 

 
Mr. Gupta has a bachelor’s degree in physics and math from Georgetown University and a 

master’s degree in economics from American University. 
 

Mr. Gupta was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in June of 2016. 
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Greg Hale  –  NYCEEC Director 
Senior Advisor 

Office of the Governor, State of New York 
 

Greg Hale is Senior Advisor to the Chairman of Energy & Finance, Office of the Governor, 
State of New York, where he is working on the New York State Green Bank and various 

other clean energy finance and economic development initiatives. 
 

Prior to joining the Governor’s Office, Greg was the Director of Efficiency Finance at NRDC’s 

Center for Market Innovation, where he focused on developing the market for energy 
efficiency building retrofits in the commercial, multi-family and institutional property 

sectors. At NRDC, Greg worked closely with financial institutions, real estate owners and 
occupants, governmental entities, energy services and technology companies, and NGOs to: 

(i) make the retrofit business case clear to building owners and occupants; and (ii) develop, 
promote and scale various innovative financing mechanisms for the retrofit marketplace. 

Greg’s work also included an emphasis on energy efficiency leasing practices. Greg is a 
founding board member of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation, and served on 

the steering committee of the PACENow Coalition. 

 
Prior to NRDC, Greg spent 17 years in the real estate industry, first as a real estate lawyer 

at Skadden, Arps, et al., and then as co-owner and general counsel of Cirque Property L.C., 
a real estate investment company which acquired, financed, managed and sold a portfolio of 

properties throughout the western United States. 
 

Greg is a graduate of Dartmouth College and The University of Michigan Law School. 
 

Mr. Hale was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in May of 2011. 
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Marc Khouzami  –  NYCEEC Director 
Director 

Deutsche Bank Asset and Wealth Management 
 

Marc Khouzami is a Director in Deutsche Bank’s Asset and Wealth Management group. At 
Deutsche Bank, Mr. Khouzami works as a generalist private equity investor focused on 

sustainability covering a variety of sectors including energy, waste and water management, 
recycling, industrials, building materials, packaging, agriculture, and chemicals. Prior to 

joining Deutsche Bank in 2009, Mr. Khouzami was an Associate at Citi’s Alternative 

Investments, Sustainable Development Investments group which served as a generalist 
growth equity vehicle of Citi Alternative Investments, making investments in a range of 

sectors including renewable and alternative energy, energy efficiency, waste and water 
management, and sustainable materials and products. Before Citi, Mr. Khouzami worked at 

Paragon Capital Partners, Oxygen Cable and Lehman Brothers. 
 

Mr. Khouzami holds a bachelor’s degree in mathematics and economics from Vanderbilt 
University and an MBA from Columbia University. 

 

Mr. Khouzami was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in June of 2016. 
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Sadie McKeown  –  NYCEEC Director 
Chief Operating Officer & Executive Vice President 

Community Preservation Corporation 
 

Sadie McKeown is the Chief Operating Officer and Executive Vice President at the 
Community Preservation Corporation (CPC). 

 
In this capacity, Sadie oversees all of CPC’s lending activities, business operations and 

investor relations, as well the operation of all Regional Field offices. She is also responsible 

for the company’s innovative Green Financing Initiative which combines public incentives for 
energy retrofits with private dollars to reduce a borrower’s energy, heat, and water costs as 

well as their carbon footprint. 
 

After starting her career at CPC as a Mortgage Originator in 1992, Sadie later served as 
Senior Vice President and Director of Lending in CPC’s Hudson Valley Region, where she led 

the company’s Downtown Main Street initiatives. 
 

Sadie earned her Master’s degree in Human Services Administration with a concentration in 

Housing from Cornell University.  She received her Bachelor’s degree in Communications 
from Fordham University. 

 
Ms. McKeown was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in March of 2016. 
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Renwick Paige  –  NYCEEC Director 
Founder & President 

Energy Infrastructure Partners 
 

Renwick (Renny) Paige is the Founding Partner and President of Energy Infrastructure 
Partners. 

 
Renny has spent over 28 years in infrastructure finance and private equity. He led 

transportation, utility and education financings at Lehman Brothers and launched the project 

finance and air cargo product lines for Financial Guaranty Insurance Company (GE Capital). 
He led the Acquisitions Department at US Water and also worked at JP Morgan. 

 
Renny received a JD from University of Pennsylvania Law School and also attended Wharton 

Graduate School and received a BA from Amherst College. 
 

Mr. Paige was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in March of 2012. 
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Bruce Schlein  –  NYCEEC Director 
Director, Community Reinvestment Act Business Strategy & Execution 

Citi 
 

Bruce Schlein is a Director in Citi’s Community Reinvestment Act (CRA) Business Strategy & 
Execution group, where he develops clean energy solutions for low and moderate income 

households and communities, having recently transitioned from Citi’s Alternative Energy 
Finance (AEF) group in Capital Markets Origination. 

 

Prior to AEF, Bruce served as Director of Corporate Sustainability with Citi business and 
operations units to identify and develop solutions for emerging environmental and social 

issues and opportunities. Previously he worked as a sustainability specialist for Bechtel on 
petrochemical and civil projects in China and Romania, and for international development 

agencies including Save the Children, Catholic Relief Services in Bosnia Herzegovina and the 
U.S. Peace Corps in Papua New Guinea. 

 
Bruce is a graduate of Cornell University and holds a Masters in International Affairs from 

Johns Hopkins Nitze School of Advanced International Studies (SAIS). 

 
Mr. Schlein was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in June of 2016. 
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Elizabeth Zeldin  –  NYCEEC Director 
Senior Program Director 

Enterprise Community Partners, Inc. 
 

Elizabeth Zeldin is a Senior Program Director at Enterprise Community Partners, Inc. At 
Enterprise, Ms. Zeldin leads a team that has developed and executed a new neighborhood-

focused program at Enterprise, weaving affordable housing preservation with capacity 
building, green, resilience, and health. Ms. Zeldin started at Enterprise in 2007 as a lending 

program officer. Prior to joining Enterprise, Ms. Zeldin worked at the New York City 

Department of Housing Preservation and Development, HR&A Advisors, New York City 
Independent Budget Office and other organizations. 

 
Ms. Zeldin holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from Rutgers University and a Masters in 

economics from New York University. 
 

Ms. Zeldin was first elected to serve as a NYCEEC director in June of 2016. 
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Posie Constable 
Director, Business Development 

NYCEEC 
 

Posie heads NYCEEC’s business development efforts to provide financing for projects that 
save energy or reduce greenhouse gases. She has spearheaded NYCEEC’s efforts to help 

buildings comply with the City’s Clean Heat law (Local Law 43) by providing innovative 
funding throughout the five boroughs for heavy oil fuel conversions. 

 

With over 28 years of experience at various firms on Wall Street, Posie has served as 
trading manager of various asset classes, managed the business development and 

origination of new products and acted as industry spokesperson in operations, accounting 
and regulatory matters. 

 
Posie holds an MBA in Finance from Fordham University and is a graduate of University of 

Colorado, Boulder (Asian Studies).  She received her certificate in Landscape Design from 
the New York Botanical Gardens. 

 

Ms. Constable was hired in March of 2012. 
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Erangi Dias   
Associate Director, Business Development 

NYCEEC 
 

Erangi is an Associate Director of Business Development for NYCEEC.  Erangi sources and 
executes financing transactions for new projects that save energy or reduce greenhouse 

gases, working with customers to understand their financing needs, and provide custom 
solutions. 

 

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Erangi was a Vice President at Citigroup, where she held roles in 
Corporate and Investment Banking, and Credit Risk Management.  While at Citigroup, she 

spent five years focusing on Project Finance, primarily in the Renewable Energy 
sector.  Erangi has worked on numerous structured financings for Wind, Solar and 

Geothermal projects in North America. 
 

Erangi holds a BS in Economics from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania. 
 

Ms. Dias was hired in April of 2015. 
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Peter Erwin -  
Program Associate 

NYCEEC 
 

Peter is a Program Associate for NYCEEC.  Peter manages NYCEEC initiatives related to the 
City of New York, as well as communication with various stakeholders in the clean energy 

financing sphere.  Peter has experience in real estate finance and urban planning. 
 

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Peter was a Project Manager at the New York City Department of 

Housing Preservation & Development (HPD), where he led the financing of numerous 
rehabilitation projects for affordable multi-family housing.  Peter’s development experience 

includes public and private capital sources, Low-income Housing Tax Credits, Brownfield 
Redevelopment Tax Credits, and New York City affordable housing policy. 

 
Peter holds an MS in Urban Planning from Columbia University and a BA in Mathematics 

from Hamilton College. 
 

Mr. was hired in October of 2017. 
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Mayra Diaz-Kalisch 
Executive Assistant 

NYCEEC 
 

Mayra is the Executive Assistant to the CEO and Administrative Coordinator for the NYCEEC 
Team.  She is responsible for assisting the CEO and the Director of Operations as well as 

supporting the overall efforts of the NYCEEC team.  With more than 20 years of experience 
supporting executives and managing offices, Mayra brings to this role a deep knowledge and 

experience working with public and private boards, organizing meetings and speaking 

events, and overall office management. 
 

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Mayra served as Administrative Assistant to the President of The 
Deutsche Bank Americas Foundation/Community Development Finance Group in New York 

from 2013-2017. 
 

Mayra has served on the steering committee for Philanthropy New York’s Assistants and 
Coordinators Network (PACNET), attended SUNY’s Empire State College, and has received 

additional training in social media from the Social Media School and Media Bistro.  

 
Ms. Kalisch was hired in April of 2017.   
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Michael Kerstetter 
Deputy General Counsel 

NYCEEC 
 

Michael is NYCEEC’s Deputy General Counsel.  He assists the Director of Legal & Business 
Development in managing the day-to-day legal affairs and operations of the organization 

and provides legal advice on various programs and projects.  In addition, Michael provides 
support to NYCEEC’s transaction managers in negotiating and closing financing and other 

transactions. 

 
Michael has broad experience advising clients on various corporate matters and 

representing them on a diverse array of commercial, financial, climate change mitigation 
and adaptation, real estate, and other transactions.  Prior to joining NYCEEC, he was 

Counsel at the New York City Economic Development Corporation and was a Research 
Fellow at the Sabin Center for Climate Change Law at Columbia Law School.  Michael started 

his legal career at White & Case LLP as a project finance and climate change attorney in the 
firm’s New York and Abu Dhabi offices.  He also served for over four years in the United 

States Coast Guard. 

 
Michael holds a JD from Fordham University School of Law and a BA in Editorial Journalism 

from the University of Washington. He is admitted to practice in New York. 
 

Mr. Kerstetter was hired in March of 2015. 
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Naeemah Lajoie 
Director, Operations 

NYCEEC 
 

Naeemah is the Director of Operations for NYCEEC.  Naeemah is responsible for managing 
the operational and administrative affairs of the organization. 

 
Prior to joining NYCEEC, Naeemah served as Director of Budget and Planning for the City of 

New York’s Energy Management team at the Department of Citywide Administrative 

Services (DCAS), where she was instrumental in developing and managing financial and 
operational tools in support of the City’s PlaNYC and One City: Built to Last initiatives to 

reduce greenhouse gas emissions from City government operations.  Naeemah has over 15 
years of finance, strategy, and operational experience in the private, not-for-profit and 

public sectors.  She began her career in the financial services industry with tenures in Equity 
Research at Merrill Lynch, and in Credit Portfolio Management at Credit Suisse. 

 
Naeemah holds a Bachelor of Business Administration in Finance from Eastern Michigan 

University, and received a Professional Certificate in Not-For-Profit Accounting and 

Governmental Reporting from New York University. 
 

Ms. Lajoie was hired in November of 2015. 
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Fred Lee 
Director, Legal and Business Development 

NYCEEC 
 

Fred is the Director of Legal and Business Development for NYCEEC. Fred manages the day-
to-day legal affairs of the organization, in addition to leading underwriting and execution of 

new transactions. 
 

Fred has experience in clean tech, real estate finance and the public sector. Prior to joining 

NYCEEC, Fred was Assistant Director in the Center for Economic Transformation at the New 
York City Economic Development Corporation, where he led the Clean Technology and 

Energy team. He served as project lead on a variety of energy efficiency and renewable 
energy projects and focused generally on developing the clean technology and energy 

sectors in NYC. Prior to entering the energy related industry, Fred was a structured finance 
attorney, focusing on securitization of real estate related securities. 

 
Fred holds an MBA with a concentration in real estate finance from Columbia Business 

School and a JD from Cornell Law School.  He also holds a BA in Political Science from 

Amherst College. 
 

Mr. Lee was hired in August of 2011. 
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Susan Leeds 
Co-CEO 

NYCEEC 
 

Susan is the co-Chief Executive Officer of NYCEEC. Susan is the day-to-day leader and 
visionary, and drives the team towards fulfilling NYCEEC’s mission. 

 
Susan is a seasoned professional with over seventeen years of experience in financial 

markets. Prior to joining NYCEEC, Susan developed a funding strategy for an energy 

efficiency project developer and advised a major national bank on product opportunities in 
energy efficiency finance. Susan has also managed financial sector advocacy for the Natural 

Resources Defense Council (NRDC), one of the nation’s leading environmental action 
groups. Additionally, she has held executive positions at a non-profit financial advocacy 

institution and at for-profit financial institutions in the mortgage and asset-backed space, 
including Deutsche Bank and GE Capital. 

 
Susan holds an MBA in finance from the Wharton School at the University of Pennsylvania 

and a BA from the University of Pennsylvania. 

 
Ms. Leeds was hired in May of 2011. 
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Jessica Luk 
Associate Director, Communications and Development 

NYCEEC 
 

Jessica leads NYCEEC’s marketing and communications, as well as its development 
activities. 

 
Jessica brings to NYCEEC a breadth of experience in finance, business development and 

sustainability policy.  These include JPMorgan, a venture-backed information services 

company and the NYC Mayor’s Office of Sustainability (MOS).  At MOS, under former Mayor 
Michael Bloomberg, Jessica helped develop the financing and green jobs components of 

the Greener, Greater Buildings Plan. 
 

Jessica holds an MBA from the Wharton School and an MA in Environmental Studies from 
the University of Pennsylvania.  She also graduated with a BA in Economics and in History of 

Art from Yale University. 
 

Ms. Luk was hired in February of 2012. 
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Jay Merves 
Director, Business Development and Finance 

NYCEEC 
 

Jay is the Director of Business Development and Finance at NYCEEC. Jay is responsible for 
leading business development activities, sourcing, negotiating, and closing transactions, and 

managing relationships with customers and counterparties, including project developers and 

lenders. 

Jay has extensive experience in his career managing complex financial transactions at global 

financial institutions. These include GE Capital, Chase, ACE Insurance, and Credit Suisse. 
Prior to joining NYCEEC, Jay served as a consultant in the areas of clean energy finance and 

risk management, and conducted an assignment on the development of PACE related 

projects. Jay’s areas of expertise include clean energy financings, structured credit, and 
synthetic securities. 

 
Jay holds an MBA from the Stanford University Graduate School of Business and a BS in 

Economics from the University of Pennsylvania. 
 

Mr. Merves was hired in December of 2012. 
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Patrick O’Donnell 
Director of Engineering 

NYCEEC 
 

Patrick is the Director of Engineering for NYCEEC.  He assists in the development and 
implementation of NYCEEC’s policies and best practices with regard to energy efficiency and 

building technologies.  Patrick provides engineering due diligence and assists in the 

execution of energy retrofit transactions. 

Patrick has over 6 years of diverse experience in energy efficiency and building systems 

optimization.  Working as a consultant in the commercial and industrial facilities sector, he 
has performed a multitude of investment-grade energy audits, retro-commissioning, and 

feasibility studies.  He also has expertise in building automation systems, energy project 

retrofits, and implementation. 
 

Prior to joining NYCEEC, Patrick worked as a project implementation engineer for Michaels 
Energy where he managed energy efficiency retrofit projects from benchmarking through 

design, construction, commissioning, and evaluation.  Additionally, Patrick has experience 
with energy program development, LEED facilitation, whole building energy modeling, and 

new construction design assistance. 
 

Patrick holds a bachelor of science in mechanical engineering and environmental studies 

from Iowa State University and is fluent in Spanish.  He is a LEED accredited professional 
and a registered Professional Engineer. 

 
Mr. O’Donnell was hired in February of 2016. 
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Curtis Probst  
Co-CEO 

NYCEEC 
 

Curtis Probst became the co-CEO of NYCEEC in April 2018.  He previously served on the 
Board of NYCEEC since 2015.  As a co-CEO he is jointly accountable to the Board, and 

shares responsibility for the overall strategy and staffing of the organization.  He also has 
specific oversight for certain organizational functions which generally focus on capital 

raising, treasury operations and risk management. 

 
Prior to joining NYCEEC in his current role, Curtis worked for over three years as a Managing 

Director at Rocky Mountain Institute, a global energy think tank, leading their sustainable 
finance practice. Curtis previously worked at Goldman Sachs for over 15 years, most 

recently as a Managing Director in their investment banking division.  Before joining 
Goldman Sachs, Probst worked at Salomon Brothers for over eight years, most recently as a 

Vice President in their structured and project finance group. 
 

Curtis serves, or has served, on the boards of various organizations with an energy or 

environmental focus.  Additionally, he has been an adjunct faculty member at Columbia 
University since 2016, lecturing on the topic of clean energy finance.  He has spoken at 

numerous conferences in the United States, Canada and Europe, and authored or co-
authored reports on different energy and financing topics. 

 
Curtis received a BComm from the University of Calgary and an MPA from Columbia 

University. He is a Chartered Financial Analyst, and a member of the CFA Institute. 
 

Mr. Probst was hired in April of 2018.  

 
 

 

PAAA Annual Report: Page 36 of 187



Schedule of Projects 
 

See Annex 
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Real Property Report 

 

NYCEEC did not own, acquire or sell any real property during this fiscal year.   
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 
CODE OF ETHICS FOR DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES 

 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

The Board of Directors (“Board”) of New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (the 
"Corporation") has adopted this code of ethics (“Code”) with respect to its Directors, Officers and 
Employees.  This Code is intended to promote (a) honest and ethical conduct, including the 
proper handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest between personal and professional 
relationships, and (b) full, fair and understandable disclosure in the periodic reports required to be 
filed hereby.  This Code (a) provides examples of situations involving conflicts of interest; (b) 
establishes disclosure procedures; and (c) outlines corrective action for violations. It is vitally 
important to the public trust that both the fact and the appearance of conflicting interests and 
improper corporate conduct be avoided.  Each Director, Officer and Employee will be expected 
to read and understand this Code and to review it periodically in order to be alert to situations 
that could create a conflict of interest or otherwise be contrary to the established policies of the 
Corporation. 

II. GUIDELINES 

A. Prohibition.  A Director, Officer or Employee may not make personal investments in 
enterprises that he or she has reason to believe may be directly involved in decisions to be made 
by him or her, in his or her capacity as Director, Officer or Employee of the Corporation, or that 
will otherwise create substantial conflict between his or her duty to the Corporation and his or 
her private interest.  Additionally, a Director, Officer or Employee is prohibited from accepting 
employment that impairs or could impair his or her independence of judgment in the exercise of 
his or her official duties.  

B. Personal Interest.  A Director, Officer or Employee shall be deemed to be "interested" in 
cases in which the Director’s, Officer’s or Employee’s personal interest conflicts with the interest 
of the Corporation.  The following are situations in which a Director, Officer or Employee would 
be deemed to be “interested”, which list is not intended to be exhaustive: 

• Where a Director, Officer or Employee or a member of his or her immediate family1 has 
an Ownership Interest2 in an entity from which the Corporation purchases services or 
supplies. 

1  Immediate family means a spouse, domestic partner, unemancipated child, and if they live with the Director, 
Officer or Employee, a parent or sibling.  

2  An Ownership Interest means an interest in an entity that exceeds 5% of the entity or an investment of $35,000 in 
cash or other form of commitment, whichever is less, or 5% or $35,000 of the entity's indebtedness, whichever is 
less, and any lesser interest in an entity when the person exercises managerial control or responsibility regarding any 
such entity, but shall not include interests held in any pension plan, deferred compensation plan or mutual fund, the 
investments of which are not controlled by the person, or in any blind trust that holds or acquires an ownership 
interest.  
 

2862256 
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• Where a Director, Officer or Employee or a member of his or her immediate family has 
an Ownership Interest in an entity with which the Corporation contracts. 

• Where a Director, Officer or Employee or a member of his or her immediate family has 
an Ownership Interest in an entity with which the Corporation negotiates or effects a 
transaction or an entity that substantially benefits from a transaction that the Corporation 
negotiates or effects.  

A Director, Officer or Employee shall not be deemed to be "interested" by virtue of his or her 
status as an official or employee of the City of New York. 

When a Director, Officer or Employee is "interested" in a matter: (a) the Director, Officer or 
Employee must disclose the nature and extent of his or her interest to the Board or committee of 
the Board, whichever will be considering the matter; and (b) the Director, Officer or Employee, 
acting as a Director, Officer or Employee, must take no part in the consideration, determination 
or approval of the matter on the part of the Corporation.   

C. Confidential and Inside Information. Confidential information acquired by a Director, 
Officer or Employee in the course of his or her duties as a Director, Officer or Employee must 
be held in confidence and may not be used as a basis for personal gain by the Director, Officer 
or Employee, his or her immediate family or others.  Information relating to transactions pending 
with the Corporation is not to be given to any person unless it has been published or otherwise 
made generally available to the public by the Corporation. 

A Director, Officer or Employee must refrain from transmitting any information about the 
Corporation or its deliberations or decisions or any other information the Director, Officer or 
Employee obtained from the Corporation that might be prejudicial to the interests of the 
Corporation to any person other than in connection with the discharge of the Director's, Officer’s 
or Employee’s responsibilities, except to the extent the information is publicly available. 

A Director, Officer or Employee must not accept employment or engage in any business or 
professional activity that will require him or her to disclose confidential information that he or 
she has gained by reason of his or her official position of authority. 

D. Gratuities/Conduct.  A Director, Officer or Employee must not be placed under actual 
or apparent obligation to anyone by accepting, or permitting his or her immediate family to 
accept, gifts or other favors where it might appear that they were given for the purpose of 
improperly influencing the Director, Officer or Employee in the performance of his or her 
corporate duties. In addition, a Director, Officer or Employee should never use his or her official 
position to secure unwarranted privileges or exemptions; nor should a Director, Officer or 
Employee, by his or her conduct, give any reasonable basis for the impression that any person 
can improperly influence him or her or unduly enjoy his or her favor in the performance of his or 
her official duties or that he or she is affected by the kinship, rank, position or influence of any 
party or person. Instead, a Director, Officer or Employee should endeavor to pursue a course of 
conduct that will not raise suspicion that he or she is likely to be engaged in acts that are in 
violation of his or her trust.  Meals provided during meetings with contractors that are reasonable 
under the circumstances and where paying directly is impracticable (e.g. sandwiches at 
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meetings), shall not be deemed to violate this policy.  Gifts of an aggregate of less than $75 in a 
twelve month period from an individual firm or employees of a single firm that does business or 
intends to do business with the Corporation shall not be deemed to violate this policy.  

III. DISCLOSURE PROCEDURE 

A. If at any time a Director, Officer or Employee is in doubt as to the proper application of 
this Code, the Director, Officer or Employee should immediately make all the facts known to the 
General Counsel of the Corporation, or in the absence of a general counsel, the New York City 
Law Department, and be guided by the instructions he or she receives.  Except as otherwise 
directed by those instructions, the Director, Officer or Employee should refrain from exercising 
responsibility with regard to the Corporation in any matter that might reasonably be thought to 
be affected by his or her interest. 

B. Each Director, Officer and Employee shall make the annual filings required of Directors 
and Officers and Employees under N.Y. Pub. Auth. Law § 2825(3). 

IV. VIOLATIONS  

If a Director, Officer or Employee violates any of the provisions of this Code, such Director, 
Officer or Employee shall be subject to an appropriate remedy under the circumstances.  In 
addition to any penalty contained in any provision of law, Officers or Employees may be subject, 
at the Board's discretion, to removal for cause. 
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FY2019 

Management Assessment of Internal Control Structure and 
Procedures  

This document memorializes the assessment of NYCEEC’s internal control structures 
and procedures that is undertaken annually by NYCEEC management pursuant to 

Section §2800(2)(a)(9) of the Public Authorities Law of the State of New York. 

Name of Public Authority:   New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation 

A. Define the Authority's Major Business Functions

The mission of the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (“NYCEEC”) is to 
“deliver financing solutions and advance markets for energy efficiency and clean 

energy in buildings.”  In FY2019, NYCEEC sought to achieve this mission mainly by 

engaging in the following activities:1 

1. Financing Projects.  Originating, closing and servicing various different types of
clean energy and energy efficiency financing products, including pre-

development loans, direct equipment loans, project financings backed by PPAs
and ESAs, green mortgages, and the provision of loan loss reserves and other

types of credit support.

2. Advancing the Field.  Acting as a market innovator and leader in “advancing the
field” by engaging in activities such as (a) assisting the City of New York in the

design and launch of the City’s commercial PACE program to achieve scale
across building sectors; (b) developing energy efficiency and clean energy

financing markets by partnering with other lenders; and (c) supporting the

growth and success of the “local green bank movement”.

3. Building NYCEEC Capacity.  Continuing to build NYCEEC capacity by (a)
improving NYCEEC infrastructure to drive greater impact; (b) raising additional

capital; (c) increasing investment in communications; and (d) seeking grant

opportunities aligned with existing activities or directly supporting NYCEEC’s

strategic goals.

B. Determine the Risks Associated with Its Operations

By engaging in the activities described above over the course of FY2019, NYCEEC was 

exposed to various risks of loss-related to torts; theft or loss of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; non-repayment of loans according to their terms; errors and 

omissions; and injuries to employees.  

C. Identify the Internal Control Systems in Place

NYCEEC has a robust set of internal control systems in place. This includes, but is not 

limited to: 

• Annual internal review of insurance coverage;

• Annual financial audit;
• Annual A-133 Single Audit;

• Procurement Policy;

1 The activities listed here are derived from NYCEEC’s current three-year strategic plan. 
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2 

• Conflict of Interest Policy;
• Salary and Compensation Policy;

• Time and Attendance Policy;
• Paid and Sick Leave Policy;

• Whistleblower Policy;
• Freedom of Information Law Policy;

• Anti-Harassment Policy;
• Policies and Procedures Manual; and

• Credit Underwriting Guidelines.

D. Assess the Extent to Which the Internal Control System is Effective

For FY2019, based on a retrospective review of NYCEEC’s activities during the fiscal 
year, and any losses, claims or other adverse events that may have arisen during such 
period, NYCEEC management has determined that to the best it’s knowledge, the 
internal control systems, policies and procedures in place at NYCEEC appear to have 
been highly effective and appropriate given the specific activities undertaken by 
NYCEEC’s staff in achieving the organization’s mission. 

As part of the annual audit, NYCEEC’s independent auditors evaluated NYCEEC’s 

internal controls related to financial reporting to identify any deficiencies or material 

weaknesses.  This evaluation did not reveal any material weaknesses.    

NYCEEC also undergoes an annual A-133 Single Audit to test internal controls and 

compliance.  NYCEEC’s independent auditor completed the A-133 Single Audit for fiscal 

year 2019 and did not identify any material weaknesses.  

E. Take Corrective Action

No corrective action necessary at this time. 

Management Certification 

NYCEEC’s management hereby certifies, as of August 25, 2020, that they followed 
a process that assessed and documented the adequacy of NYCEEC’s internal control 
structure and policies for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019.  To the extent such 
assessment identified any material deficiencies, NYCEEC has developed or is 
developing corrective action plans to reduce any corresponding risk related to 
such deficiencies. 
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Description of NYCEEC 
 

 In October of 2010 the New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (“NYCEEC”) was 

incorporated under the laws of the State of New York (the “State”) as a Not-for-Profit 

Corporation. NYCEEC is a non-profit specialty finance company that provides loans and 

innovative financing solutions, coupled with technical engineering guidance, to help building 

owners undertake energy efficiency and clean energy projects that reduce greenhouse gas 

emission and save money.  NYCEEC finances energy efficiency, combined heat and power, 

fuel conversion, demand response and building-scale renewable energy projects. 

 On November 29, 2012, NYCEEC received notice from the Internal Revenue Service 

(“IRS”) that its tax-exempt status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code 

was approved, and it is exempt from federal income taxes.  NYCEEC is considered a public 

charity under Section 170(b)(1)(A)(vi) of the internal revenue code.  NYCEEC is also exempt 

from State and local income and sales taxes. 

 NYCEEC is governed by a Board of Directors whose membership includes public 

officials and private individuals.  In fiscal year 2014, NYCEEC’s Board of Directors voted to 

become self-perpetuating and NYCEEC is not a component unit of The City of New York (the 

“City”). 

 NYCEEC makes pre-development, construction and permanent loans and provides 

credit enhancement in the form of loan loss reserves exclusively for energy efficiency and 

clean energy projects in buildings. NYCEEC also partners with various lending organizations 

to finance such projects while encouraging best practices with respect to energy efficiency 

retrofit implementation and ongoing performance monitoring. 
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Board of Directors 
 
a. Board Structure 

 
As of the end of FY 2019, NYCEEC’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) totaled 10 total 

members and four vacant seats.  Those members include City officials, business owners in 
the clean energy field and community leaders.  

  

NYCEEC Board Members  (as of June 30, 2019) 
 

1. Jeff Brodsky - Chairperson 

2. Mark Chambers 

3. Kim Darga 

4. Ashok Gupta 

5. Greg Hale 

6. Marc Khouzami 

7. Sadie McKeown 

8. Renwick Paige 

9. Bruce Schlein 

10. Elizabeth Zeldin 

11. (vacant) 

12. (vacant) 

13. (vacant) 

14. (vacant) 

 

The Board has three committees.  Committee names and memberships as of the end of FY 
2019 are listed below: 

 
Audit and Finance Committee: 

Renwick Paige  

Sadie McKeown 
Marc Khouzami 

 
Governance and HR Committee: 

Greg Hale 
Jeff Brodsky 

Bruce Schlein 
 

Executive Committee: 

Jeff Brodsky 
Greg Hale 

Renwick Paige 
 

 
b. NYCEEC Board Meeting Minutes 

See Annex 
 

c. NYCEEC Audit & Finance Committee Minutes 

See Annex 
 

d. NYCEEC Governance & HR Committee Minutes 
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See Annex 
 

e. NYCEEC Executive Committee Minutes 
See Annex 

 
f. List of board meeting attendance  

 
10/24/2018  8 out of 10 directors 

2/6/2019   8 out of 10 directors 

4/16/2019  7 out of 10 directors 
6/26/2019  9 out of 10 directors 

 
g. Board Performance Evaluation 

See Annex 
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NYCEEC Committee Members 
As of June 30, 2019 

 

The Board has three committees.   Committee names and membership is listed below: 
 

Executive Committee: 
Jeff Brodsky 

Greg Hale 

Renwick Paige 
 

Audit and Finance Committee: 
Renwick Paige  

Sadie McKeown 
Marc Khouzami  

 
Governance and HR Committee: 

Greg Hale 

Jeff Brodsky 
Bruce Schlein 
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Major Authority Units and Subsidiaries 
 

For FY 2019, NYCEEC was comprised of the following major units/departments: business 

development, engineering, marketing and communications, operations and legal.   

For FY 2019, NYCEEC did not have any major subsidiaries. 
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Number of Employees and Executive Management Team 

 

As of June 30, 2019 NYCEEC had 12 employees and the executive management team 

consisted of the following individuals 

• Susan Leeds – co-President and co-CEO 

• Curtis Probst – co-President and co-CEO 

• Fred Lee – Vice President and Secretary 

• Jay Merves – Treasurer 
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NYCEEC Organizational Chart

Curtis Probst
Co-President and Co-CEO

Fred Lee
Vice President, 

Secretary and Director 
of Legal and Business 

Development

Jay Merves
Treasurer and Director 

of Business 
Development

Naeemah Lajoie
Director of Operations

Michael Kerstetter
Deputy General 

Counsel

Jessica Luk
Director of 

Development

Mayra Kalisch 
Executive Assistant / 

Administrative 
Coordinator

Posie Constable
Director of Business 

Development

Erangi Dias
Associate Director of 

Business Development

As of March 7, 2019

Susan Leeds
Co-President and Co-CEO

Peter Erwin
Program Associate

Patrick O’Donnell
Director of Engineering
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Articles of Incorporation and By-Laws 

 
See Annex 
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List of Material Operations and Program Changes  

During the Reporting Year 
 

 

 NYCEEC did not have any significant changes in its material operations and programs 

during the Fiscal Year. 
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Budget Report for New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation       Run Date: 08/08/2019

Fiscal Year Ending: 06/30/2020
Status: CERTIFIED
Certified Date:08/08/2019

Page 1 of 2

Budget & Financial Plan                                                                Budgeted Revenues, Expenditures, And Changes in Current Net Assets.

Last Year
(Actual)

Current Year
(Estimated)

Next Year
(Adopted)

Proposed Proposed Proposed

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
                                                                                                                                     

 REVENUE & FINANCIAL SOURCES  
 Operating Revenues  
 Charges For Services $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Rentals & Financing Income $3,870,433.00 $4,370,448.00 $4,914,000.00 $3,151,100.00 $3,308,655.00 $3,474,087.75 
 Other Operating Revenues $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Non-Operating Revenues  
 Investment Earnings $21,560.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 $2,500.00 
 State Subsidies / Grants $160,638.00 $152,272.00 $415,000.00 $415,000.00 $415,000.00 $415,000.00 
 Federal Subsidies / Grants $64,756.00 $39,578.88 $20,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Municipal Subsidies / Grants $1,021,009.00 $768,132.00 $1,070,000.00 $1,070,000.00 $1,070,000.00 $1,070,000.00 
 Public Authority Subsidies $600,000.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Other Non-Operating Revenues $0.00 $299,999.88 $391,000.00 $400,000.00 $400,000.00 $400,000.00 
 Proceeds From The Issuance Of Debt $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Total Revenues & Financing Sources $5,738,396.00 $5,632,930.76 $6,812,500.00 $5,038,600.00 $5,196,155.00 $5,361,587.75 
  
 EXPENDITURES  
 Operating Expenditures  
 Salaries And Wages $1,800,004.00 $2,016,668.00 $2,160,000.00 $2,224,800.00 $2,291,544.00 $2,360,290.00 
 Other Employee Benefits $453,264.00 $511,903.00 $536,763.00 $563,601.00 $591,781.00 $621,370.00 
 Professional Services Contracts $748,852.00 $536,590.00 $919,000.00 $919,000.00 $919,000.00 $919,000.00 
 Supplies And Materials $10,965.00 $6,477.00 $11,000.00 $11,330.00 $11,670.00 $12,020.00 
 Other Operating Expenditures $356,627.00 $393,338.50 $430,000.00 $442,900.00 $456,187.00 $469,873.00 
 Non-Operating Expenditures  
 Payment Of Principal On Bonds And 

Financing Arrangements
$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 

 Interest And Other Financing Charges $659,063.00 $961,707.00 $920,000.00 $766,000.00 $804,300.00 $844,515.00 
 Subsidies To Other Public Authorities $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Capital Asset Outlay $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Grants And Donations $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Other Non-Operating Expenditures $3,865,656.00 $2,571,981.00 $105,000.00 $110,250.00 $115,763.00 $121,551.00 
 Total Expenditures $7,894,431.00 $6,998,664.50 $5,081,763.00 $5,037,881.00 $5,190,245.00 $5,348,619.00 
 Capital Contributions $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 
 Excess (Deficiency) Of Revenues And Capital 
Contributions Over Expenditures

($2,156,035.00) ($1,365,733.74) $1,730,737.00 $719.00 $5,910.00 $12,968.75 
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Budget Report for New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation       Run Date: 08/08/2019

Fiscal Year Ending: 06/30/2020
Status: CERTIFIED
Certified Date:08/08/2019

Page 2 of 2

The authority's budget, as presented to the Board of Directors, is posted on the following website:     www.nyceec.com

Additional Comments
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Board Performance Evaluations 
 

See Annex 
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Description of Assets or Services Bought Without Competitive 

Bidding 

 

 A copy of NYCEEC’s PAAA annual Procurement Report for FY 2019, from the Public 

Authorities Information Reporting System, is available on NYCEEC’s website. 

 During FY 2019, except as described in such report, all NYEEC acquisitions of assets 

and services were done through competitive procurements. 

 

 

 

PAAA Annual Report: Page 56 of 187



Description of Material Pending Litigation 

 

As of the end of FY 2019, NYCEEC was not involved in any material pending litigation except 

as may be noted in the audited financial statements for such fiscal year. 
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Board and Committee Meeting Minutes 
 

See Annex 
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Salary, Compensation and Reimbursement Policy 
 

The corporation’s employee handbook was originally approved by NYCEEC’s board of 

directors in June 2013 and subsequently updated in June 2014.   The handbook includes the 

corporation’s policies on salary, compensation and reimbursement.    The relevant policies 

are copied below. 

Salary and Compensation 

WORK HOURS AND COMPENSATION-RELATED PRACTICES 

INTRODUCTION 

Depending on the number of hours you work, you will be designated a full-time, part-time, 

or temporary employee.  All employees, whether designated full-time, part-time, or 

temporary are classified as either exempt or non-exempt.  Employees will be advised of 

their classification at the time of hire and upon any subsequent change in job title or 

responsibilities affecting that status. 

SIXTY (60) DAY INTRODUCTORY PERIOD  

As a new employee, you will have a sixty (60) day introductory period.  This period gives 

you the opportunity to adjust to a new working environment and gives NYCEEC the 

opportunity to observe your performance.  An employee is considered a regular employee 

after successful completion of the introductory period.  NYCEEC reserves the right to extend 

an employee’s introductory period. 

During the introductory period, you will receive those benefits mandated by law (e.g., 

disability, Workers’ Compensation, and Unemployment Insurance), and certain, but not all 

of the additional benefits extended to regular full-time employees who have completed the 

introductory period.  Please see Section X below regarding a summary of and eligibility for 

offered Benefits.  

Notwithstanding this introductory period, at all times during and after this period you are 

free to resign at will, just as NYCEEC is free to terminate your employment at will. 

REGULAR FULL-TIME EMPLOYEES  

You are considered a regular full-time employee if you are normally scheduled to work forty 

(40) or more hours per week. 

You may be eligible for NYCEEC benefits pursuant to the terms and conditions of the 

applicable benefit plan, program, or policy. 

REGULAR PART-TIME AND HOURLY EMPLOYEES  

You are considered a regular part-time employee if you are normally scheduled to work 

fewer than 40 hours per week on a regular basis.  You are considered an hourly employee if 

you work fluctuating hours and are not regularly scheduled to work.    

PAAA Annual Report: Page 59 of 187



You may be eligible for additional NYCEEC benefits pursuant to the terms and conditions of 

the applicable benefit plan, program, or policy. 

TEMPORARY EMPLOYEES 

You are considered a temporary employee if you are scheduled at NYCEEC’s option to work 

on an as-needed basis. 

Temporary employees are not eligible to participate in any NYCEEC benefit plan, program, 

or policy.  

EXEMPT AND NON-EXEMPT STATUS 

Exempt status is determined by applicable federal and state laws.  Exempt employees are 

paid on a salaried basis and are not eligible for overtime compensation.   

Non-exempt status is determined by applicable federal and state laws.  Non-exempt 

employees are paid straight time pay for all hours actually worked up to the 40th hour in a 

workweek plus time-and-one-half their regular rate of pay for all hours actually worked in 

excess of forty (40) hours in any given workweek.   

Additional information regarding exempt/non-exempt status, as well as deductions from 

pay, can be found in NYCEEC's Salary Basis Policy, set out as Attachment A to this 

Employee Manual. 

OVERTIME  

From time to time, NYCEEC may require employees to work overtime so that work is 

completed and up-to-date.   

Exempt employees are required to work the hours necessary to cover all work demands 

without extra compensation. 

For non-exempt employees, any overtime worked, including before and after your regular 

work hours, must be authorized by your supervisor.   

For overtime calculation purposes, the week begins on Saturday and ends on Friday, and 

includes hours actually worked.  For purposes of computing overtime, NYCEEC does not 

count paid time off or holidays as hours “actually worked.”  

TIMEKEEPING  

To ensure that employees are accurately paid and that NYCEEC is in compliance with 

applicable law, complete records of employee hours worked must be kept.  All employees 

must accurately record their time on the electronic ADP timekeeping system maintained by 

NYCEEC.   

This means that all employees must accurately record all time worked and any days off 

including the use of accrued leave time.  All time must be entered into and finalized on the 
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ADP system no less frequently than the Friday before the issuance of payroll on a biweekly 

(every two (2) weeks) basis.  

No employee may enter time for another employee without proper authorization.  In the 

event of an issue or error in recording your time, please report the matter to immediately 

the Director of Operations. 

PAY PERIOD  

The pay period is for the fourteen day period from Saturday through the second following 

Friday.  You will receive your pay biweekly on the Thursday before the end of the pay 

period.   

OFFICE HOURS 

NYCEEC’s regular office hours begin at 9:00 am, Monday through Friday.  Notwithstanding 

these hours, employees are expected to devote the amount of time necessary to perform 

their job responsibilities.   

ALTERNATIVE WORK SCHEDULES 

NYCEEC is committed to providing an environment that creates flexibility in balancing the 

challenging demands of the workplace.  We recognize that sometimes it is in everyone’s 

interests to consider alternative work schedules.   

Examples of such schedules might be 

o Flexible start/end time 

o Telecommuting 

o Reduced hours (which may include a status change to part-time) 

o Remote access  

NYCEEC’s primary obligation must always be to serve our clients and consequently, the 

business needs of the organization must always be the primary guide for determining 

eligibility for an alternative work schedule.  In addition, these options may not be 

appropriate for particular positions or situations. 

Only eligible employees, who have successfully completed at least six (6) months of 

employment, and who hold, in NYCEEC’s CEO’s sole discretion, positions that are amenable 

to an alternative work schedule will be considered for such an arrangement.  If you would 

like to work an alternative schedule, you should make such request in advance to the CEO.   

With respect to any arrangement, which involves work outside of the NYCEEC office: 

o You may be required to be on-site as necessary to attending meetings, or trainings, 

or based on other business necessity. 

o NYCEEC may provide remote access to its network.  Please see the Director of 

Operations for additional information. 

o Any employee working an alternative work schedule will be required to meet the 

same performance standards as other employees. 
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o Any decision to grant, or deny a request, or to change an arrangement under this 

policy, is within NYCEEC’s sole discretion.  In any event, alternative work schedules 

will be reviewed on an annual basis. 

LUNCH PERIOD/BREAKS 

The lunch period for all regular, full-time employees is one (1) hour.  Part-time employees 

who work more than six (6) hours in a day are entitled to a lunch period of thirty (30) 

minutes.  Regular, full-time employees are also entitled to two (2) breaks of ten (10) 

minutes each during the course of the day. 

 

 

 

Reimbursement Policy 

Article I 

Purpose 

This policy provides NYCEEC employees and contractors with guidelines for the 

reimbursement of business expenses incurred in the conduct of necessary organization 

business, and to control and minimize such costs.  

This policy establishes guidelines for the reimbursement of business-related travel and meal 

expenses for NYCEEC Employees and Contractors.  

These guidelines are for both the individuals submitting reimbursement forms and for the 

NYCEEC senior staff and Directors charged with the responsibility of reviewing and 

approving the business-related expenses of others.  

 

Article II 

Procedures 

Section 1.  Responsibility  

All NYCEEC employees and contractors must request reimbursement of business-related 

expenses by submitting a completed and approved reimbursement form in accordance with 

this policy along with relevant receipts (for all purchases over $5). In addition, the 

employee and contractors must make all efforts to gain prior approval from the CEO or an 

Officer before the following expenses are incurred: 

1. Out-of-town travel 

2. Conferences 
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3. Webinars 

All travel and meal allowance reimbursements should be submitted as one complete 

package on a per-trip basis within 20 days after a trip for NYCEEC staff and 10 days for 

contractors.  

NYCEEC is a 501 (c)(3) organization and is eligible to receive sales-tax exempt certification 

in most states.  NYCEEC has a sales-tax exempt certification for New York State, which 

should be used for business travel in the state, lodging and other business related purposes.  

Before traveling, NYCEEC staff should alert the Associate Director, Operations & 

Administration to the location (if outside of New York) of the business travel and all efforts 

will be made to get the sales-tax exempt certification for that state for staff to use while 

traveling for purposes including but not limited to car rental, lodging, etc. 

 

Section 2. General  

NYCEEC will reimburse employees and contractors for usual and reasonable expenses 

incurred in the conduct of the organizations business. This policy applies to:  

• Use of business-related equipment for NYCEEC employees, such as cell phones and 

Blackberry’s (for Directors and Associate Directors only) 

• Personal wireless device data plan charges on minutes and data used for business 

purposes up to 50 % based on average monthly use 

• Wireless internet access equipment i.e. wireless access cards for laptop use  

• Background investigation costs required and pertaining to working for NYCEEC i.e. 

DOI background check related expenses 

• Renewal of professional licensing fees i.e. bar association renewals, etc. 

• All travel and business-related expenses incurred by NYCEEC employees and 

contractors  

NYCEEC employees and contractors must ensure goods or services they are purchasing for 

$25 or more are not available from sources within the company prior to incurring an 

expense. If the goods or services are not available from within the organization, the 

employee or contractor must obtain prior approval from his/her manager before purchasing, 

and to the extent possible, should use the corporate credit card to purchase such goods or 

services totaling $25 or more. Employees and contractors are expected to exercise prudent 

business judgment in relation to all expenses covered by this policy.  

All reimbursement forms for goods or services from employees and contractors must be 

submitted for payment not later than 30 days from the date the expense was incurred. 

Estimated expenses are prohibited, unless approved by the CEO.  
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Section 3. Transportation  

In-Town  

The following guidelines should be used when traveling in-town for business purposes if you 

plan to seek reimbursement for travel expenses:  

1. Public transportation (subways, buses, ferries) should be used whenever possible and is 

reimbursed on an expense voucher for traveling to meeting from the office.  Traveling from 

meetings back to the office is also a reimbursable expense.  If meetings are a significant 

distance from the office and pose an inconvenience to staff returning to their homes, 

NYCEEC will reimburse for travel from the meeting to their homes.  

2. If public transportation is not reasonably possible, using a taxi cab is permissible. The 

employee or contractor needs to submit receipts for such uses to be reimbursed within 30 

days after use of taxi cab. 

Out-of-Town  

Air and Train Transportation: Employees and contractors are encouraged to make 

reservations for train or plane travel as early as possible to get the best rates.  All business 

air and train travel will be by coach/tourist/economy class unless due to time sensitivity, 

business-class travel is required. When making airline and train reservations, employees are 

to request flights and trains in accordance with required departure/arrival times that utilize 

the lowest fare prices and direct routes for a traveler’s flight or train itinerary.  

Taxi and other Local Transportation: The cost of taxis or town car service to and from places 

of business, hotels, airports or railroad stations in connection with business activities are 

reimbursable. However, the use of airport subway or bus service is strongly encouraged.   

Car Rental: The use of car rentals is only permissible for economic need and not personal 

convenience. All rentals should be at economy rates, i.e., standard or compact size cars. 

The use of full-size cars is acceptable when four or more employees are traveling together 

and sharing the rental.  

Airport parking of personal automobiles, tolls and mileage incurred when on NYCEEC 

business will be reimbursed.  

Driving:  NYCEEC encourages car rentals for out-of-town travel when applicable.  If a car 

rental isn’t readily available, NYCEEC will reimburse employees based on mileage stated on 

directions generated through Map Quest or other similar direction services.  OR the IRS 

allows reimbursement for $.55 for every business mile driven and NYCEEC will reimburse 

employees and contractors at this same rate for driving expenses.  Note- This rate is 

subject to change per IRS guidelines.  
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Section 4. Meals  

In-Town 

NYCEEC employees and contractors should avoid conducting business over meals.  

Reimbursement may be requested for meals over $20 under unavoidable circumstances. 

The business purpose as well as the name and affiliation of the parties involved must be 

disclosed. There is a $50 per annum threshold for employees to accept payment of meals by 

outside partners.   

 Out-of-Town  

NYCEEC will reimburse employees and contractors for reasonable and appropriate out-of-

town business meals and incidental expenses (snacks) at the per diem rate of $70.00. The 

per diem rate for international travel is $90.00. NYCEEC employees should use the 

corporate card to make meal purchases whenever possible; NYCEEC contractors should use 

a personal credit card or their business credit card for these purchases whenever possible 

and must submit all receipts within 10 days after travel. 

The cost of magazines, pharmaceuticals and other non-food incidentals are not 

reimbursable even if incurred while on business travel. 

There is a $50 per annum threshold for employees to accept payment of meals by outside 

partners.    

 

Section 5. Lodging 

NYCEEC will pay only room rental costs supported by the hotel bill. Employees and 

contractors are required to break down billing for meals and other expenditures from 

lodging on the reimbursement request. When traveling, employees and contractors are 

expected to use reasonably priced hotels or motels, whenever possible. Incidental expenses 

are the employee’s responsibility.  

Convention Rate:  

Hotel accommodations at official conference/convention hotels are permissible. Employees 

should make efforts to choose the most economical hotel accommodations if official 

conference/convention hotel offering are not available.  

 

Section 6. Telephone Use  

NYCEEC encourages the use of personal cell phones for employees and contractors as much 

as possible for business-related calls during out-of-town travel versus using hotel phones 

and these business-related calls can be reimbursed. If an employee purchases a calling 
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card, purchases an international data plan, rents a cell phone or buys a SIM card for 

business purpose use, these costs are also reimbursable.  Personal calls are not eligible for 

reimbursement.  

 

Section 7.  Business Meals  

As a general matter, NYCEEC staff and contractors do not expect to conduct business over 

meals.  If a circumstance arises where a business meal is required and meets a $20 or more 

threshold, employees should make every effort to pay for meals using the corporate card, 

and should submit receipts for reimbursement within 30 days of the event. Contractors 

should use a credit card (business or personal) and a written explanation with business 

purpose as well as the name and affiliation of the parties involved must be disclosed within 

30 days of the event. 

Payment for incidentals (snacks, etc.) for Board meetings should be purchased with the 

corporate card and are reimbursable. Receipts should be given to the Associate Director, 

Operations and Administration for tracking purposes.   

 

Section 8. NYCEEC will reimburse the International Traveler for the following  

• Airport departure and arrival fees  

• Passports and Visas 

• Immunizations and Inoculations 

• Traveler Check fees  

• Currency exchange commissions and fees  

• Use of telephone cards or cell phone SIM cards or international data plans for work 

email access 

 

Section 9. Procedures for Reimbursement of Expenses 

The employee or contractor claiming reimbursement for expenses must bear sole 

responsibility for ensuring that documentation is complete and:  

1. Prepare the expense/travel reimbursement form accurately and include original receipts. 

Receipts are required for in-town public transportation (i.e. bus and subway) and taxi cab 

rides over $5.  If purchasing a subway card using the corporate card, a receipt is also 

required.  

2. Ensure the out-of-town travel expense voucher contains a copy of the itinerary (location 

and duration of the business trip), and a description of the business purpose. Out-of-town 
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reimbursement forms are to be prepared on a per trip basis and submitted for 

reimbursement within 30 days of returning from the trip for NYCEEC staff and contractors.  

3. NYCEEC employees and contractors should avoid conducting business over meals.  

Reimbursement may be requested for meals under unavoidable circumstances such as 

impromptu meetings with business partners. The business purpose as well as the name and 

affiliation of the parties involved must be disclosed. There is a $50 per annum threshold for 

employees to accept payment of meals by outside partners.   

 

Section 10. Approvals 

The CEO and/or Corporate Officer will approve reimbursement forms. 

All travel plans require prior approval from the CEO or the Associate Director, Operations 

and Administration.  Approval must be requested by means of an itinerary memorandum or 

email, which discloses the business purpose as well as the location and duration of the trip.  

Travel or business expenses that are not in accordance with this policy are the employee’s 

or contractor’s responsibility unless approved in writing by the NYCEEC CEO or the Associate 

Director, Operations and Administration.  

NYCEEC’s CEO must obtain an approving signature of all reimbursements from an Officer of 

the Corporation. 

 

Section 11. Expense Support 

The following documentation, along with a description of the business purpose, is required 

to be given for reimbursement of business expenses:  

• Transportation: Original Airline, train or bus ticket/stub and proof of payment.  

• Car Rental: Original car rental agreement/paid invoice and/or proof of payment.  

• Driving:  Proof of mileage driven and for what business purpose i.e. print out of 

directions from Map Quest or a similar direction service. 

• Lodging: Original invoice provided by hotel and proof of payment.  

• Out-of-Town Meals: Receipts verifying meals within the allowable Per Diem for 

Domestic and International travel rates.   

• Business Meals: Credit card or cash receipt proof of payment for all in-town and out-

of-town business meals, the names and affiliation of parties entertained, and the 

business purpose.   
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• Telephone: Employees and contractors are encouraged to use cell phones whenever 

possible for business calls during out-of-town travel. Original receipt or hotel bills 

itemizing business calls and business purpose are required for reimbursement.  

• Personal cell phone use for business:  Copy of bill and note on the bill indicating 

percentage used for business purposes. 

• Taxi and Other Local Transportation: Receipts required for costs totaling over $5.  

• Other Expenses: Credit card proof of payment or cash receipts is required for all 

items. *Note-These are subject to management discretion and approval by the CEO.  

 

*  Business reimbursement claims must be submitted with proof of payment. Employees 

and contractors should make every effort to pay for out-of-town meals using the corporate 

card or a credit card, and should submit the credit card authorization receipt demonstrating 

proof of payment for reimbursement. Itemized receipts will not be accepted in the place of a 

credit card authorization receipts. If the credit authorization receipt is lost or unavailable, 

NYCEEC will accept a copy of the employee’s credit card statement as proof of payment. 
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New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation: 

The Disposition of Personal Property 
 

In FY19, NYCEEC followed the policy of NYCEDC for the Disposition of Personal Property 
which is as follows: 

 
Personal Property Valued at $5,000 or Less 

 

Whenever New York City Economic Development Corporation (the "Corporation") wishes 

to transfer title to or a beneficial interest in an item of personal property or an interest 

therein with an estimated value of $5,000 or less, it shall obtain offers from one or more 

persons or entities as the Corporation's contracting officer for personal property 

dispositions (the "Contracting Officer") or his or her designee deems appropriate. The 

Corporation shall maintain a record of the persons or entities approached and their 

responses.   The Corporation may conduct discussions with some or all of the persons 

and entities.  The property may be disposed of to whichever person or entity the 

Contracting Officer or his or her designee selects based on the proposed price and any 

other factors that the Contracting Officer or his or her designee deems appropriate. 

 

All personal property that the Contracting Officer or his or her designee considers to be 

of no sale value and no use to the Corporation may be destroyed or otherwise disposed 

of in such manner as is determined by the Contracting Officer or his or her designee. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, records may only be destroyed or disposed of at a time 

and in a manner not in conflict with applicable law, regulation or contract. 

 

No approval of a disposition of a type described above is required from the Board of 

Directors or any committee thereof.  All disposal documents must be approved and 

executed by an officer who is an authorized signatory of all agreements of the 

Corporation. 

 

Personal Property Valued in Excess of $5,000 

 

Whenever the Corporation wishes to transfer title to or a beneficial interest in an item of 

personal property or an interest therein with an estimated value in excess of $5,000 it 

shall first obtain an appraisal of the property if, because of the unique nature of the 

property or the unique circumstances of the proposed transaction, it is not readily 

valued by reference to an active market for similar property.  However, an appraisal of 

the property will not be required if an appraisal of the property or similar property has 

been made within the past two years. 

 

The person or entity to which the property shall be disposed of shall be determined 

through a procurement conducted in accordance with Title 5-A of Article 9 of the Public 

Authorities Law.  The Corporation shall publicly advertise for proposals for the disposal of 

the property in accordance with Title 5-A, provided that it may dispose of the property 

without public advertising, obtaining such competition as is feasible under the 
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circumstances, when permitted to do so under Title 5-A. All requirements of Title 5-A 

and other applicable laws, if any, related to the disposition shall be complied with. 

 

Prior to the disposal of the property, the project manager involved in the disposition 

shall be the primary person responsible for the monitoring of compliance with the terms 

of the contract for the disposal, and shall keep the Contracting Officer or his or her 

designee informed of all major issues that arise and of the status of the disposition. 

 

The disposal must be approved by the Board of Directors or Executive Committee of the 

Board if the disposal (1) is on a sole source basis for an amount in excess of $20,000, 

(2) is for an amount in excess of $100,000 and has been competitively procured, or (3) 

is for property valued in excess of $5,000 and will be disposed of for less than fair 

market value.  For disposals for less than those amounts, no approval is required of the 

Board of Directors or a committee thereof. In all cases, the disposal must be approved 

by the Contracting Officer or his or her designee and disposal documents must be 

approved and executed by an officer who is an authorized signatory of all agreements 

of the Corporation. 

 

The Contracting Officer shall cause a record to be maintained of all personal property 

disposed of for an amount in excess of $5,000 and shall cause to be prepared and 

transmitted all reports relating to the disposition of personal property required by Title 

5- A. 

 

Contracting Officer 

 

The person who, from time to time, oversees the Corporation's unit for the procurement 

of contracts for goods and services shall be the Corporation's Contracting Officer for 

personal property dispositions. 
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 
INVESTMENT REPORT 

 
For the fiscal year ending June 30, 2019. 

 
Pursuant to §2925(6) of the Public Authorities Law of the State of New York 

 

1. Investment Guidelines. A copy of the current investment guidelines of the New York 
City Energy Efficiency Corporation (the “Corporation”), as reviewed by the 
Corporation's Board of Directors (or a designated committee thereof) and duly approved 
on October 26, 2016 (the "Guidelines") is attached to this report at Exhibit A. Since the 
last investment report, the Guidelines have not been amended. 

 
2. Explanation of Guidelines. The Corporation is required under §2925 of the Public 

Authorities Law of the State of New York to adopt comprehensive investment guidelines 
which detail the Corporation's operative policy and instructions to officers and staff 
regarding the investing, monitoring and reporting of the Corporation's funds. The 
Guidelines attached at Exhibit A are those guidelines. 

 
3. Audit Results. As part of the Corporation's FY2019 annual financial audit, the 

Corporation's investments were reviewed by an independent auditor. The results of the 
audit are described in the notes to the Corporation's audited financial statements. 

 
4. Investment Income Record. In FY2019, the Corporation's investments consisted solely 

of cash and cash equivalents held in the various deposit accounts maintained by the 
Corporation with JP Morgan Chase. In such fiscal year, these investments earned 
$63,613 in interest income from the financial institution(s) with which the accounts were 
maintained. During this fiscal year, the Corporation did not retain the services of any 
investment banker, broker, agent, dealer or adviser rendering investment associated 
services. As such, no fees, commissions or other charges were paid to any such 
individuals. 
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EXHIBIT A 
to Investment Report 

 

Investment Guidelines 
 

As of June 30, 2013, NYCEEC determined that its most cost-effective and prudent course of 
action with respect to investing its operating and uncommitted and/or undisbursed capital funds 
would be to hold such funds (pursuant to a certain Pledge and Assignment Agreement between 
NYCEEC and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.) in interest and non-interest bearing commercial 
bank account(s) that are collateralized to the extent practical. NYCEEC’s analysis included an 
assessment of interest rates, credits earned on non-interest-bearing accounts, collateralization 
costs, comparable bank fee structures, FDIC insurance availability and Federal guidelines. It is 
our policy to monitor these variables and to make changes as deemed appropriate and necessary 
by NYCEEC staff and its board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a portion of NYCEEC’s 
uncommitted capital funds is held in an interest-bearing money market account as contractually 
required by the foundation that granted such funds to NYCEEC. With respect to committed 
and/or disbursed capital funds pursuant to closed transactions, to the extent applicable, NYCEEC 
will determine the most cost-effective and prudent course of action with respect to investing such 
funds, consistent with the investment restrictions applicable to such closed transactions. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
 
The Board of Directors of  
   New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation 
("NYCEEC"), which comprise the statements of financial position as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the related 
statements of activities, functional expenses, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to 
the financial statements.  

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditors’ Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no 
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of NYCEEC as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for the 
years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 

Emphasis of a Matter 
 

As discussed in Note 2N to the financial statements, during the year ended June 30, 2019, NYCEEC adopted 
Accounting Standards Update 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) – Presentation of Financial Statements 
of Not-for-Profit Entities. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter. 

 
New York, NY 
October 31, 2019 
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS OF JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

2019 2018

ASSETS
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents (Notes 2H and 4) 10,464,125$   9,582,698$     

Government grants receivable (Notes 2K and 6) 368,197          497,866          

Contributions receivable (Notes 2J and 5) 36,987            -                 

Fees and interest receivable (Note 2L) 324,264          411,707          

Prepaid expenses and other assets 62,567            53,373            

Total current assets 11,256,140     10,545,644     

Noncurrent assets
Restricted cash and cash equivalents (Note 4) 5,748,139       5,617,778       

Restricted cash - escrows held (Note 4) 817,233          871,170          

Restricted deposit with NYCHDC (Note 8) 985,000          985,000          

Loans receivable, net (Notes 2D, 2E, 7 and 10) 38,748,587 42,156,858

Property and equipment, net (Notes 2F and 12) 30,750            71,899            

Total noncurrent assets 46,329,709     49,702,705     

TOTAL ASSETS 57,585,849$   60,248,349$   

LIABILITIES 
Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses (Note 2G) 874,529$        816,822$        
Notes payable (Note 13) 1,744,851       40,000            

Total current liabilities 2,619,380       856,822          

Noncurrent liabilities
Escrows due (Note 9) 842,234          871,171          

Notes payable (Note 13) 20,000,000     21,261,810     

Total noncurrent liabilities 20,842,234     22,132,981     

TOTAL LIABILITIES 23,461,614     22,989,803     

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 14)

NET ASSETS (Note 2B)

Net assets without donor restrictions 1,710,899       3,207,826       
Net assets with donor restrictions (Note 15) 32,413,336     34,050,720     

TOTAL NET ASSETS 34,124,235     37,258,546     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 57,585,849$   60,248,349$   

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
- 2 -
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019 For the Year Ended June 30, 2018
Without Donor With Donor Total Total Without Donor With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions 2019 2018 Restrictions Restrictions

SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions (Notes 2J and 5) 7,557$               300,000$         307,557$           600,000$       -$              600,000$           
Government grants (Notes 2K and 6) 938,972             -                  938,972             1,246,403      1,246,403 -                     
Fee income (Note 2L) 140,920             -                  140,920             228,147         228,147         -                     
Interest from loans receivable (Note 2L) 4,359,629          -                  4,359,629          3,642,286      3,642,286      -                     
Interest income from banks (Note 2M) 63,613               -               63,613               21,560           21,560           -                  
Net assets released from restrictions (Notes 2B and 15) 1,937,384          (1,937,384)    -                     -                 3,756,672      (3,756,672)      

TOTAL SUPPORT AND REVENUE 7,448,075          (1,637,384)       5,810,691          5,738,396      8,895,068      (3,156,672)         

EXPENSES 
Program services 7,939,610          -               7,939,610          6,957,046      6,957,046      -                     
Management and administration 876,927             -               876,927             822,282         822,282         -                     
Fundraising 128,465          -               128,465             115,103         115,103         -                     

TOTAL EXPENSES 8,945,002          -                  8,945,002          7,894,431      7,894,431      -                     

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS (1,496,927)         (1,637,384)       (3,134,311)         (2,156,035)     1,000,637      (3,156,672)         

Net assets - beginning of year 3,207,826          34,050,720      37,258,546         39,414,581    2,207,189      37,207,392         

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 1,710,899$        32,413,336$    34,124,235$       37,258,546$   3,207,826$    34,050,720$       

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 3 -
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

(With Summarized Totals for the Year Ended June 30, 2018)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2019
Supporting Services

Program Management 2019 2018
Services and Administration Fundraising Total Total

Salaries and wages 1,516,460$         414,818$                 90,302$             2,021,580$         1,800,004$     

Payroll taxes and employee benefits (Note 16) 388,550              106,285                   23,137               517,972              453,264          

Total personnel services 1,905,010           521,103                   113,439             2,539,552           2,253,268       

Professional and consulting fees 341,287              253,851                   2,605                 597,743              748,852          

Occupancy (Note 14B) 164,899              43,646                     7,021                 215,566              107,759          

Utilities 4,147                  1,098                       177                    5,422                  74,142            

Insurance 25,719                6,808                       1,095                 33,622                33,247            

Travel, meetings and conferences 15,124                4,003                       644                    19,771                16,701            

Supplies and office expense 6,770                  1,792                       288                    8,850                  10,965            

Telecom, internet and website 45,564                7,543                       1,213                 54,320                39,098            

Postage and delivery 531                     141                          23                      695                     1,735              

Minor furniture, equipment and leases 6,556                  1,735                       279                    8,570                  3,275              

Payroll and benefits processing fees -                      12,809                     -                     12,809                11,388            

Banking, finance and miscellaneous fees (Note 13) 942,288              11,982                     5                        954,275              659,063          

Depreciation and amortization (Note 12) 39,353                10,416                     1,676                 51,445                69,282            

       Total expenses before provision for loan losses 3,497,248           876,927                   128,465             4,502,640           4,028,775       

Provision for loan losses (Notes 2E and 7) 4,442,362           -                           -                     4,442,362           3,865,656       

       Total expenses 7,939,610$         876,927$                 128,465$           8,945,002$         7,894,431$     

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 4 -PAAA Annual Report: Page 85 of 187



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2018

Program Management
Services and Administration Fundraising Total

Salaries and wages 1,376,731$         367,302$                  55,971$              1,800,004$         

Payroll taxes and employee benefits (Note 16) 346,679              92,491                      14,094                453,264              

Total personnel services 1,723,410           459,793                    70,065                2,253,268           

Professional and consulting fees 442,149              270,359                    36,344                748,852              

Occupancy (Note 14B) 80,841                24,137                      2,781                  107,759              

Utilities 55,621                16,607                      1,914                  74,142                

Insurance 24,942                7,447                        858                     33,247                

Travel, meetings and conferences 12,529                3,741                        431                     16,701                

Supplies and office expense 8,226                  2,456                        283                     10,965                

Telecom, internet and website 34,233                4,362                        503                     39,098                

Postage and delivery 1,301                  389                           45                       1,735                  

Minor furniture, equipment and leases 2,457                  733                           85                       3,275                  

Payroll and benefits processing fees -                      11,388                      -                     11,388                

Banking, finance and miscellaneous fees (Note 13) 653,706              5,352                        5                         659,063              

Depreciation and amortization (Note 12) 51,975                15,518                      1,789                  69,282                

       Total expenses before provision for loan losses 3,091,390           822,282                    115,103              4,028,775           

Provision for loan losses (Notes 2E and 7) 3,865,656           -                            -                     3,865,656           

       Total expenses 6,957,046$         822,282$                  115,103$            7,894,431$         

Supporting Services
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NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018

2019 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Change in net assets (3,134,311)$      (2,156,035)$      

Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to
net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization 51,445              69,282              
Provision for loan losses 4,442,362 3,865,656         
Amortization of deferred rent 107,913            (15,000)             

Subtotal 1,467,409         1,763,903         

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in assets:

Government grants receivable 129,669            (129,507)        
Contributions receivable (36,987)             100,000         
Fees and interest receivable 87,443              61,190              
Prepaid expenses and other assets (9,194)               (3,883)               

Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (50,206)             128,416            

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 1,588,134         1,920,119         

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Cash held in escrow (28,937)             (211,156)           
Interest capitalized (3,048,672)        (1,995,319)        
Loans disbursed (3,813,657)        (12,580,204)      
Loan payments received 5,828,238         4,804,251         
Acquisitions of property and equipment (10,296)             (11,422)             

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (1,073,324)        (9,993,850)        

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from notes payable 483,041            14,521,810       
Repayments of notes payable (40,000)             (1,784,000)        
Funds paid to other capital providers -                    (119,056)           
Funds received from other capital providers -                    183,599            

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 443,041            12,802,353       

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 957,851            4,728,622         

Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year 16,071,646       11,343,024       

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS – END OF YEAR 17,029,497$     16,071,646$     

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR:
Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 10,464,125$     9,582,698$       
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 6,565,372         6,488,948         

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS—END OF YEAR 17,029,497$     16,071,646$     

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash paid during the year for interest 904,524$          453,122$          

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. - 6 -
PAAA Annual Report: Page 87 of 187



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018 
 
 

 - 7 -  
 

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES 
 
New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation (“NYCEEC”) is a non-profit, specialty finance company that provides 
loans and innovative financing solutions to help building owners undertake energy efficiency and clean energy 
projects that reduce greenhouse gas emissions and save money. NYCEEC finances energy efficiency, combined 
heat and power, fuel conversion, demand response and building-scale renewable energy and storage projects. 
 
NYCEEC is governed by a Board of Directors whose membership includes public officials and private individuals. 
In fiscal year 2014, NYCEEC’s Board of Directors voted to become self-perpetuating and NYCEEC is no longer a 
component unit of The City of New York (the “City”). 
 
On November 29, 2012, NYCEEC received notice from the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) that its tax-exempt 
status under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code was approved, and it is exempt from federal income 
taxes. NYCEEC is considered a public charity under Section 170(b)(1)(A)(vi). NYCEEC was incorporated under 
the laws of the State of New York (the “State”) and is exempt from State and local income and sales taxes. 
 
NYCEEC makes construction and permanent loans and provides credit enhancement in the form of loan loss 
reserves exclusively for energy efficiency and clean energy projects in buildings. NYCEEC also partners with 
various lending organizations to finance such projects while encouraging best practices with respect to energy 
efficiency retrofit implementation and ongoing performance monitoring. 
 
NYCEEC’s project loans are primarily funded by Federal funds as well as funds received from the City, private 
banks and philanthropic foundations. NYCEEC’s operations are primarily funded through earnings on its project 
loans and funds received through the contract with the City as well as several philanthropic grants that NYCEEC 
has been awarded since inception. 
 
In accordance with its governing documents, NYCEEC officers have the responsibility to approve or disapprove 
certain financing transactions while other transactions must be approved by certain members of the Board of 
Directors. 
 
NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
A. Basis of Accounting  

 
The accompanying financial statements of NYCEEC have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting and conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. 
GAAP”) as applicable to not-for-profit organizations as defined by the Financial Accounting Standards Board 
(“FASB”). 
 

B. Basis of Presentation 
 

NYCEEC is required to report information regarding its financial position and activities according to two 
classes of net assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions. 
 
Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions – include resources that are not subject to donor-imposed stipulations 
and, therefore, may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of NYCEEC. 
 
Net Assets With Donor Restrictions – include resources subject to donor-imposed stipulations that limit their 
use either through purpose or time restrictions. When donor restrictions expire, that is, when a time restriction 
ends or a purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified as net assets 
without donor restrictions and reported as net assets released from restrictions. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

C. Functional Allocation of Expenses 
 

The costs of providing NYCEEC’s program and supporting services have been summarized on a functional 
basis in the accompanying statements of activities. Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated between 
program and supporting services benefited. Such allocations are determined by management on an 
estimated reasonable basis. 
 
The expenses that are allocated include salaries and wages which were allocated based on management’s 
estimate of the time spent by each employee in each functional category. The payroll taxes and employee 
benefits were allocated based on the allocation of staff salaries. Professional and consulting fees were 
directly applied to a functional category depending of the purpose of the services, and indirect costs are 
allocated on the basis of staff full time employees. 

 

D. Loans Receivable 
 

Loans receivable are funds utilized for financing clean energy and energy efficiency projects. Loans 
receivable represent funds drawn by borrowers and any interest capitalized on those funds. Non-capitalized 
interest on borrowed funds is recognized as interest receivable. The loan terms vary and generally have 
repayment periods of up to 12 years. 
 
Loans are considered past due when payment of scheduled principal or interest is not received within 30 days 
from the payment due date. NYCEEC’s policy places a loan on non-accrual status when payments of 
principal or interest are 120 days past due or more unless the loan is in the process of collection and 
management reasonably expects full collection. Management may place a loan on non-accrual whether the 
loan is past due or when it is evident that full payment of the loan is not expected. Interest on non-accrual 
loans will not be recognized on an accrual basis from the point they are placed on non-accrual. A non-accrual 
loan will be returned to accrual status when all past due payments are brought current and management 
believes repayment of contractually owed principal and interest is reasonably assured.  

 

E. Provision for Uncollectible Amounts 
 

NYCEEC establishes a provision for possible uncollectible amounts based on an analysis of receivables 
deemed uncollectible. NYCEEC’s policy is based on its internal evaluation of the individual loans and their 
associated risk. These amounts are recorded in the accompanying financial statements under loans 
receivable or fees and interest receivable, as applicable (see Note 7). 
 
As of June 30, 2019 and 2018 the accompanying financial statements included provisions on allowance for 
uncollectible loans of $11,130,182 and $6,231,065, respectively. 
  

F. Property and Equipment 
 

It is NYCEEC’s policy to capitalize property and equipment with a cost over $1,000 and a useful life of at least 
three years. Property and equipment are stated at their original costs or at their fair values at the dates of 
donation. Depreciation is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. 
Expenditures for leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized using the straight-line method over 
the lease term. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

G. Deferred Rent 
 

NYCEEC records rent expenses associated with its office lease on a straight-line basis over the life of the 
lease. The difference between the straight-line amount and the amount actually paid during the year is 
recorded as a liability and an expense in the accompanying financial statements. Included in accounts 
payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying financial statements is a deferred rent liability of 
$112,793 and $4,880 as of June 30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 

 

H. Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, NYCEEC considers all highly liquid investments available for 
current use with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

 

I. Use of Estimates 
 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, as 
well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 

J. Contributions and Contributions Receivable 
 

Contribution revenue is recorded at fair value when the donor makes an unconditional promise to give. 
Amounts are recorded as with donor restrictions if they have donor stipulations that limit the use of the 
donated asset. When a donor restriction expires (that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose 
restriction is accomplished), net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor 
restrictions and reported in the statements of activities as contributions released from restrictions. Conditional 
promises to give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. 
 

Grant funds are released from restriction as eligible operating and capital expenses are incurred. When both 
restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is NYCEEC’s policy to use restricted resources 
first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed.  
 

Contributions to be received over periods longer than a single year are discounted at an interest rate 
commensurate with the risk involved, unless deemed to be de minimis. 

 

K. Government Grants, Government Grants Receivable and Unearned Revenue 
 

Government grant revenue is recognized when earned. Government grant funds from the City used to 
capitalize NYCEEC’s revolving loan fund and loan loss reserve fund is recorded as grant revenue when 
committed and funding is certain. Expense driven grants are recognized as revenue when qualifying 
expenses have been incurred and all other grant requirements have been met. Government grant funds 
received prior to qualifying expenses being incurred are recorded as unearned revenue. 
 

Government grants receivable consists of eligible costs under government grants that were incurred prior to 
the fiscal year-end and funds committed for the loan fund and loan loss reserve fund for which payment has 
not been received. 

 

L. Program Revenue and Fees and Interest Receivable 
 

Program revenue includes income from interest and fees on loans and loan loss reserve transactions. Such 
income is recognized when earned. Fees are due and payable when earned. 
 

When interest is capitalized during the construction period, it is reflected as loans receivable.  Interest is due 
and payable monthly or quarterly based on the amortization schedule shared with the borrower. 
 

M. Investment Income 
 

Investment income reflects the earnings on the cash and cash equivalents of NYCEEC held with financial 
institutions. 
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NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

N. Recent Accounting Pronouncements 
 

FASB Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-14, “Not-for-Profit Entities Topic 958” Presentation of 
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities, was adopted for the year ended June 30, 2019. ASU 2016-14 
provides for a number of changes, including the presentation of two classes of net assets and enhanced 
disclosure on liquidity resources and functional expense allocation. These changes had no impact on the 
change in net assets for the year ended June 30, 2019. As a result of implementing ASU 2016-14, NYCEEC 
reports net assets in two classes (see Note 2B) and provides additional information about liquidity (see Note 
3) and the methodologies used to allocate expenses by function (see Note 2C). 
 

O. Reclassification 
 

Certain line items in the June 30, 2018 financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the June 30, 
2019 presentation. 

 

NOTE 3 – LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF RESOURCES 
 

Cash account balances, net of outstanding checks, for all accounts, are reviewed daily by accounting and finance 
staff. Balances in the operating, payroll, foundation funding, and restricted lending accounts are reviewed weekly 
with management to determine necessary cash transfers and availability of funds to cover the cost of general 
operations as well as to fund lending activities. 
 

As of June 30, 2019, NYCEEC had working capital of approximately $8.6 million and a current ratio of 4.0. At year 
end, unrestricted cash and cash equivalents of approximately $10.5 million represented 752 days of cash on hand 
based on the FY2020 operating budget, with the majority of these funds intended for lending. NYCEEC 
additionally had short-term receivables of approximately $729,000. An additional $5.7 million in cash and cash 
equivalents is restricted specifically for lending purposes. 
 

As of June 30, 2019, the following tables show the total financial assets held and the amounts of those financial 
assets that could be made readily available within one year of the balance sheet date to meet general 
expenditures. 
 

Financial assets at year-end: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,464,125 
Government grants receivable  368,197 
Contributions receivable  36,987 
Fees and interest receivables  324,264 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  5,748,139 
Restricted cash - escrows held  817,233 
Restricted deposit with NYCHDC  985,000 
Loans receivable, net  5,276,839 

 $ 24,020,784 
 

Financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the next 12 months: 
 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,464,125 
Government grants receivable  368,197 
Contributions receivable  36,987 
Fees and interest receivables  324,264 
Loans receivable, net  5,276,839 

 $ 16,470,412 
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NOTE 4 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

As of June 30, 2019, NYCEEC’s bank balance was $17,172,733 compared to its book balance of $17,029,498. 
The difference between the bank balance and book balance of $143,235 relates to reconciling items in the 
NYCEEC operating account. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by Federal Deposit Insurance 
Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance for each of the two banks and $15,870,375 was fully collateralized under a pledge 
and assignment agreement with JP Morgan Chase. The remaining $802,358 is uncollateralized. 
 
NOTE 5 – CONTRIBUTIONS 
 
NYCEEC was awarded a total of $307,557 and $600,000 in private foundation funding during the years ended June 
30, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Since inception, NYCEEC has been awarded $7.1 million in private foundation 
funding.  As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, the outstanding receivable balance amounted to $36,987 and $0, 
respectively. 
 
NOTE 6 – GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND CONTRACTS 
 
In 2011, NYCEEC was awarded an allocation from the City under the Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block 
Grant Program (“EECBG”) in the amount of $37.5 million, which was received in full. NYCEEC has received $37.5 
million from the City since inception. Of this amount, a total of $32.8 million was used to capitalize a revolving loan 
fund and loan loss reserve fund and has been recorded as grant revenue in prior periods. 
 
The City committed to funding NYCEEC an additional $8.2 million over three years, beginning June 2015 for 
additional clean energy financing and related services. Of this $8.2 million, $5 million was used to capitalize a 
revolving loan fund and has been recorded as revenue in the statements of activities. NYCEEC recorded a 
receivable balance from the City as of  June 30, 2018 amounting to $248,126 for expenditures incurred. As of 
June 30, 2019, $266,697 was included in government grants receivable on the accompanying financial 
statements for expenditures incurred. The City shall make further allocations to NYCEEC upon request and 
submission. 
 
As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, net assets received under the contract with the City and restricted for purposes of 
the revolving loan fund and loan loss reserve fund were approximately $32.4 million and $33.9 million, 
respectively (see Note 15). For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, approximately $1.6 million and $3.3 
million, respectively, of loan funding from the City was released from restrictions to cover the provision for loan 
losses on anticipated uncollectible loans receivable funded by the City.  
 
NOTE 7 – LOANS AND COLLATERAL COMMITMENTS 
 

A. Loans and Collateral Commitments 
 

NYCEEC has received federal grants and a private grant that are to be utilized for financing clean energy and 
energy efficiency. NYCEEC has also secured participant lenders and other borrowing facilities to fund its 
project loan portfolio. Through June 30, 2019, NYCEEC has closed eighty-one financing transactions, totaling 
approximately $80.0 million. These eighty-one transactions have consisted of six loan loss reserve 
transactions totaling $12.2 million and seventy-five loans totaling $68.2 million since inception. 

  
Of the $68.2 million in NYCEEC loan commitments, $65.2 million has been drawn by borrowers through June 
30, 2019 and approximately $3 million remains to be drawn. In fiscal year 2019, interest of $3,048,672 was 
capitalized and added to principal. NYCEEC has collected approximately $5.8 million in principal repayments 
in fiscal year 2019.  
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NOTE 7 – LOANS AND COLLATERAL COMMITMENTS (Continued) 
A. Loans and Collateral Commitments (Continued) 

 
Loans receivable consists of the following as of June 30: 

 

   2019   2018 
   

Loans receivable, beginning  $ 50,925,750  $ 40,753,543 
Loan disbursements   7,295,977   12,365,703 
Interest capitalization   3,048,672   2,610,755 
Loan repayments         (5,828,246)         (4,804,251) 
Loans receivable, ending            55,442,153            50,925,750 
Less allowance           (11,130,182)     (6,231,065) 
Less loans serviced on behalf of third parties         (5,563,384)         (2,537,827) 

   
     Loans receivable, net  $ 38,748,587  $ 42,156,858 

 
The following is a summary of the scheduled principal repayments to be received on all of NYCEEC’s loans 
(before the provision for uncollectible amounts) as of June 30: 

 

   2019   2018 
   

Due in less than one year  $ 5,835,549  $ 5,117,230 
Due within one to five years   11,181,991   3,711,274 
Due after five years   38,424,613   42,097,246 

   
  $ 55,442,153  $ 50,925,750 

 

B. Concentrations  
 

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, borrowers with outstanding balances in excess of 10% of the gross loans 
receivable accounted for 62% and 61% of the portfolio, respectively. As of June 30, 2019, the largest 
concentrations of loans receivables are with three borrowers across five loans and amount to approximately 
$19.4 million, $7.6 million and $7.1 million representing approximately 35%, 14% and 13%, respectively, of 
NYCEEC’s loan portfolio, net of participations. As of June 30, 2018, the largest concentrations of loans 
receivables were with three borrowers across five loans and amounted to approximately $16.6 million, $7.5 
million and $4.7 million representing approximately 34%, 15% and 10%, respectively, of NYCEEC’s loan 
portfolio, net of participations.  
 

C. Ratings and Provisions  
 

NYCEEC uses an internal rating system to determine borrower repayment risk and the appropriate provision. 
The definitions of the rating levels are summarized below, in addition to amounts provisioned based on 
analysis of specific receivables deemed uncollectible. Provisions calculated do not include amounts serviced 
on behalf of third parties. 

 
1. Pass provisioned at 2% of outstanding principal balance: The borrower and the loan are both performing 

fully to projections and project milestones, or better, with no sign of deterioration in any of the major 
performance criteria. 
 

2. Watch/Attention provisioned at 10% of outstanding principal balance: Deterioration in one or more major 
financial performance criteria is a trend requiring increased scrutiny and possible intervention with the 
borrower. 
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NOTE 7 – LOANS AND COLLATERAL COMMITMENTS (Continued) 
C. Ratings and Provisions (Continued) 

 
3. Doubtful/Substandard provisioned at 20% of outstanding principal balance: Borrower or loan shows 

significant deterioration, requiring restructuring and intervention. Negative trends cannot be easily 
reversed, and payment on the original terms is extremely doubtful. 
 

An analysis of the allowance for uncollectible amounts as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 by rating category is 
summarized as follows: 

Classification Loans Receivable Loan-Loss Reserves Provision June 30, 2019, Net 

Specific  $ 7,166,085  $ -   $ (7,166,085)  $ - 

       1   27,177,605   985,000   (471,685)   27,690,920 

       2   5,302,806   -    (530,281)   4,772,525 

       3   14,810,657   -     (2,962,131)   11,848,526 

  $ 54,457,153  $ 985,000   $ (11,130,182)  $ 44,311,971 

Less: Loans serviced on behalf of third parties      (5,563,384) 

Net loans receivable     $ 38,748,587 

Classification Loans Receivable Loan-Loss Reserves Provision June 30, 2018, Net 

Specific  $ 6,486,832  $ -   $ (4,905,344)  $ 1,581,488 

       1   40,853,918   985,000   (805,721)   41,033,197 

       2   -    -    -   -  

       3   2,600,000   -     (520,000)   2,080,000 

 $ 49,940,750  $ 985,000  $ (6,231,065)  $ 44,694,685 

Less: Loans serviced on behalf of third parties      (2,537,827) 

Net loans receivable     $ 42,156,858 
 
NOTE 8 – RESTRICTED DEPOSIT WITH NYCHDC 
 

NYCEEC provided $2.5 million to New York City Housing Development Corporation (“NYCHDC”) for the 
establishment of the Program for Energy Reduction Loans (“PERL”) loan loss reserve account. In fiscal year 
2016, NYCHDC repaid NYCEEC $1.5 million to reduce the amount held to $985,000. There was no additional 
repayment in fiscal year 2019, and as of June 30, 2019, the amounts held in reserve were $985,000. This reserve 
account is maintained by NYCHDC for the benefit of NYCHDC and NYCEEC. NYCHDC may invest the funds on 
deposit in the reserve account in one or more permitted investments selected by NYCHDC in its sole discretion. 
All proceeds and earnings of these investments benefit NYCEEC and are paid by NYCHDC to NYCEEC 
quarterly. If there are any losses on permitted investments, NYCHDC shall deposit the amount of such loss in the 
reserve account. During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, earnings on this reserve fund were $21,112 
and $11,004, respectively, and such amounts are included in interest from loans receivable in the accompanying 
financial statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PAAA Annual Report: Page 94 of 187



NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

JUNE 30, 2019 AND 2018 
 
 

 - 14 -  
 

NOTE 9 – ESCROWS HELD AND ESCROWS DUE 
 

Two NYCEEC borrowers have contributed funds to capitalize certain loss reserves in respect of financed projects. 
The first borrower makes monthly payments to fund reserves balances and quarterly principal and interest payments 
on the loan. During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, these payments and interest accrued have decreased 
the amounts held in reserve by approximately $54,000 and $200,000, respectively. To the extent that such funds are 
not used to repay any amounts owed and unpaid to NYCEEC under the loan agreement, a portion will be returned 
to the borrower on an annual basis and the balance at the term of the transaction, based on the loan agreement. 
The second borrower has funded certain reserves during construction of approximately $99,000 as per schedules 
established in the associated loan agreements. Such reserves are held in escrow in respect of the financed projects. 
 

NOTE 10 – OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - LOANS SERVICED ON BEHALF OF THIRD PARTIES 
 

Pursuant to a contractual arrangement between New York State Energy Research & Development (“NYSERDA”) 
and NYCEEC, NYSERDA contributed $721,332 to the origination of seven project loans which has been disbursed 
to borrowers. Funds have been disbursed on a pro-rata basis with NYCEEC capital in accordance with the loan 
terms and will be returned to NYSERDA concurrently as loan repayments are made to NYCEEC. As such, NYCEEC 
is servicing this loan on behalf of NYSERDA.  The repayment of funds to NYSERDA is made on a non-recourse 
basis and with no associated interest. 
 
During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC made repayments to NYSERDA of $1,116,043 and 
$119,056, respectively. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, $300,131 and $210,448, respectively, is due to NYSERDA, 
which is netted against the loans receivable in the accompanying statements of financial position. 
 
Pursuant to a contractual arrangement with a third-party participant to co-fund one project loan, $2,143,779 has 
been contributed by third-party capital in accordance with the loan terms during the year ended June 30, 2019. 
Inclusive of NYSERDA and this private investor, the total loan participations serviced on behalf of third parties as of 
June 30, 2019 and 2018 were $5,563,384 and $2,537,827, respectively. This is recognized as a reduction of loans 
receivable (Note 7). 
 
NOTE 11 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
NYCEEC has standard commercial insurance coverage to mitigate typical operational risk.  
 
NYCEEC extends financing for both clean energy and energy efficiency retrofit projects and, in this capacity, 
NYCEEC is exposed to the risk of non-payment of fees, interest and return of principal. In cooperation with its 
Board of Directors and consultants, NYCEEC has instituted transaction-specific underwriting standards, due 
diligence and credit approval procedures, and monitoring procedures to mitigate these risks. 
 
NOTE 12 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
 
Property and equipment consisted of the following as of June 30: 
 

    Estimated 
   2019   2018  Useful Lives 
    

Leasehold improvements  $                -  $ 196,677 5 Years 
Furniture and fixtures                  13,169                    8,408 5 Years 
Software                  35,493                  35,493 3 Years 
Computers and equipment   81,436   75,901 3 Years 
 Total cost   130,098   316,479  
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization   (99,348)   (244,580)  
    

 Net book value  $ 30,750  $ 71,899  
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NOTE 12 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 
 
Depreciation and amortization expense amounted to $51,445 and $69,282, respectively, for the years ended June 
30, 2019 and 2018.  During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC wrote-off fully depreciated 
leasehold improvements amounting to $196,677 and $0, respectively.  This write-off reflected leasehold 
improvements no longer in service. 
 
NOTE 13 – NOTES PAYABLE 
 
On December 31, 2014, NYCEEC was awarded a working capital recoverable grant of $120,000 from the Deutsche 
Bank Americas Foundation over three years. This award is treated as a zero-interest loan and must be repaid over 
three years following the grant period. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC owed $0 and $40,000, respectively, 
under the award.  
 
On December 5, 2017, NYCEEC entered into an agreement with FJC, a New York not-for-profit corporation, for a 
term loan facility to support an energy improvement project with a maximum borrowing capacity of $1.82 million 
and which matures May 31, 2020. Interest accrues on amounts borrowed under the note at prime + 3% per 
annum and is paid quarterly. As of June 30, 2019, NYCEEC had drawn $1.7 million. This amount is included in 
notes payable – current. 
 

On April 15, 2016, NYCEEC entered into an agreement with Bank of America (“BOA”) for a term loan facility with 
a maximum borrowing capacity of $10 million, which may be drawn through October 15, 2017 and which matures 
April 15, 2024 with interim payments due April 15, 2021, 2022 and 2023. Interest accrues on amounts borrowed 
under the note at 3% per annum and is paid quarterly. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC had drawn $10 
million under the note. This amount is included in notes payable – noncurrent. 
 

On July 1, 2016, NYCEEC entered into agreement with the MacArthur Foundation for a term-loan program related 
investment in the amount of $5 million, which may be drawn through June 30, 2018 and which matures July 1, 
2031 with interim payments due July 1, 2028, 2029 and 2030. Interest accrues on amounts borrowed under the 
note at 1% per annum and is paid quarterly. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC had drawn $5 million under 
the note. This amount is included in notes payable – noncurrent. 
 

On July 26, 2016, NYCEEC entered into agreement with Deutsche Bank for a revolving loan facility in the amount 
of $5 million, which may be drawn through July 26, 2017 and which matures December 14, 2021. Interest accrues 
on amounts borrowed under the note at London Inter-bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) + 2.25% per annum and is 
paid quarterly. The facility is subject to an unused facility fee, which accrues on amounts committed but 
unborrowed at two tenths of one percent (0.20%) and is paid quarterly. As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC 
had drawn $5 million under the note. This amount is included in notes payable – noncurrent. 
 

As of June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC had total notes payable of approximately $21.7 million and $21.3 million, 
respectively. Interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 amounted to $944,654 and $475,637, 
respectively, and is included in banking, finance and miscellaneous fees in the accompanying statements of 
functional expenses.  
 

NOTE 14 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

A. Contingencies for Future Audits by Governmental Funding Sources 
 

Pursuant to NYCEEC’s contractual relationships with its governmental funding sources, governmental agencies 
have the right to examine NYCEEC’s books and records involving transactions relating to these contracts. The 
accompanying financial statements make no provision for possible disallowances. 
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NOTE 14 – COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued) 
 

B. Lease Commitments 
 

On September 14, 2018, NYCEEC entered into a lease for the use of facilities in Manhattan which extends 
through October 31, 2027. The lease is subject to escalations for increases in real estate taxes and other 
operating expenses.  

 

As of June 30, 2019, minimum future obligations under this lease were approximately as follows: 
 

Fiscal year 2020 $ 225,000 
Fiscal year 2021         225,000 
Fiscal year 2022         225,000 
Fiscal year 2023         225,000 
Fiscal year 2024         229,000 
Thereafter  858,000 
  
 $ 1,987,000 

 

 
Rent expense for the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018 amounted to $191,815 and $107,759, 
respectively, and is included in occupancy costs in the accompanying statements of functional expenses. 

 

C. Income Taxes 
 

NYCEEC believes it had no uncertain tax positions as of June 30, 2019 and 2018 in accordance with FASB 
Accounting Standards Codification Topic 740 (“Income Taxes”), which provides standards for establishing 
and classifying any tax provisions for uncertain tax positions. 

 
NOTE 15 – NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS 
 

For the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, net assets with donor restrictions amounted to $32,413,336 and 
$34,050,720, respectively. Of this amount, $25,743 and $81,640, respectively, has been received from private 
sources to fund future NYCEEC operations and $32,387,593 and $33,969,080, respectively, is intended to fund 
the revolving loan fund and loan loss reserve fund.  
 

Net assets with donor restrictions were restricted for the following as of June 30: 
 

   2019   2018 
   

Revolving loan and loan loss reserve fund  $ 32,387,593  $ 33,969,080 
Time restrictions   25,743   81,640 
   

 Net book value  $ 32,413,336  $ 34,050,720 
 
During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, $1,937,384 and $3,756,672, respectively, in allowable expenditures 
satisfied donor restrictions. During the year ended June 30, 2019, these amounts included approximately $1.6 million 
in funding released to cover the provision for loan losses on anticipated uncollectible loans receivable. Such amounts 
are recorded as net assets released from restrictions in the accompanying statements of activities. 
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NOTE 16 – RETIREMENT PLAN 
 

NYCEEC maintains a contributory, defined-contribution 401(k) plan covering all employees who meet specific 
eligibility requirements. The plan is an elective, deferred-salary arrangement. NYCEEC makes safe-harbor 
contributions matching employee contributions up to 3% of salary and half of employee contributions between 3% 
and 5%. Employee contributions and employer safe-harbor contributions are considered fully vested. NYCEEC 
may elect to make additional matching contributions on behalf of employees. Additional matching contributions 
are considered fully vested after six years of service. During the years ended June 30, 2019 and 2018, NYCEEC 
contributions into the 401(k) plan on behalf of active employees totaled $99,473 and $74,273, respectively, and 
are included in payroll taxes and employee benefits in the accompanying financial statements.  
 
NOTE 17 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
NYCEEC has evaluated, for potential recognition and disclosure, events subsequent to the date of the statement 
of financial position through October 31, 2019, the date the financial statements were available to be issued.  
 
Subsequent to year end, NYCEEC paid down it’s note payable with FJC in the amount of $1 million and BOA in 
the amount of $2.5 million. As of October 31, 2019, the outstanding balance due to FJC and BOA is $744,851 and 
$7.5 million, respectively.  
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Schedule of Projects 

 

During fiscal year 2019, NYCEEC consummated the following transactions:1 

No. Project Name Borrower Name Closing 
Date 

Loan Size 
(approx.)2 

Type of Loan 

1.  Lakeside Towers  Strategic Finance Group 09/26/2018 $420,516 PPA-backed 

project financing 

2.  Hebrew Home ESA 
Part 2 

Ecosave, Inc. 09/27/2018 $790,036 ESA-backed 
project financing 

3.  Edge 11211 Condo 

LED Retrofit 

Edge 11211 Condo  10/17/2018 $107,537 Direct loan 

4.  Ariel West LED Ariel West Owners Corp. 01/25/2019 $75,568  Direct Loan 

 

 

 
1 This list does not include small transactions in which the original NYCEEC commitment was $50,000 or less. 

2 Amount of original NYCEEC commitment.  Amount does not include capitalized interest (if any). 
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CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION 
OF 

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 

A Not~For-Profit Corporation 
under Section 402 of the Not-For-Profit 

Corporation Law of the State ofNew York 

THE UNDERSIGNED, a natmal person of the age of eighteen or over, for the 

purpose of fanning a not-fot-profit corporation pursuant' to Section 402 of the Not-For-Profit 

Corporation Law of the State ofNew York, hereby certifies as follows: 

~IRST: The name of the corporation is New York City Energy 

Efficiency Corporation (hereinafter referred to as the "Corporation"). 

SECOND: The Corporation is a corporation as defined m 

subparagraph (a)(S) of Section 102 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New 

York (the ''Not-For-Profit Corporation Law") and shall be a Type C Corporation as defined in 

Section 201 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law. 

THIRD: The pur}joses for which the Corporation is fonned and will 
/ 

be operated are the exclusively charitable purposes, within the meaning of Section 501(c)(3) of 

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), of lessening the burdens of 

goverrunent and protecting the public interest by implementing the greenhouse gas reduction 

plans of The City of New York (the "City"), including without limitation the provision of 

funding and financing to property owners in the City for the instaHation of renewable energy 

systems and energy efficiency improvements, the development and aggregation of demand for 

such funding and financing through education, marketing, and outreach efforts, the coordination 

and development of related workforce development activities, and the promotion of innovative 

energy initiatives that deliver short- and longwtenn economic and environmental benefits to City 

residents (the "Sustainable Enerey Program"). 

FOURTH: In advancing such purposes, the Corporation will be 

perfonning an essential government function on behalf of the City within the meaning of Section 

115(1) of the Code. In furtherance of the promotion of the public interest and said Program and 

purposes, the Corporation shall have the power to engage in activities (subject to such 

/ 
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restrictions and limitations as may be imposed on not-for-profit corporations by this Certificate 

of Incorporation, the Not-For-Profit-Corporation Law, or by any other, applicable law) including 

the following: 

(a) to establish the terms, conditions, procedures and requirements to 

effectuate and implement the planning, development, operation and financing of the Sustainable 

Energy Program in partnership with the City; 

(b) to negotiate and consummate the acquisition, disposition, transfer or other 

conv~yance of real or. personal property related to any energy efficiency improvement or 

renewable energy system, as such terms may from time to time be defined under the laws of the 

State of New York or the United States, as buyer, seller, lessee, lessor, assignee or assignor or 

otherwise in relation to enabling, implementing, promoting or assisting activities in connection 

with the Sustainable Energy Program; 

(c) to enter into contracts, agreements, leases, licenses and other similar 

arrangements and instruments (to the extent permitted by, and consistent with, the purposes of 

the Corporation) with any public or private entity in furtherance of the purposes specified herein; 

(d) to acquire, construct, improve, develop, renovate, rehabilitate, revitalize or 

. replace, any and all energy efficiency improvement or renewable energy system and the 

operation and maintenance thereof and to support or enhance, directly or indirectly, the financing 

or refinancing of same; / 

(e) to engage the services of one or more developers, contractors, consultants, 

engineers, brokers, planners, construction managers, property managers, architects, attorneys, 

advisors, trustees, concessionaires, operators and all other service providers whose services shall 

be necessary or desirable in connection with the activities of the Corporation; 

(f) to employ any number of part-time or full-time employees to carry out the 

purposes of the Corporation and the activities referred to herein; 

(g) to apply for, accept, administer and comply with the terms of, any gifts, 

grants, subsidies, guarantees or loans of funds or property or financial or other aid in any form 
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from the federal government or any agency or instrumentality thereof, or from the State of New 

York or the City ot any agency or instrumentality thereof or from any other source, for any or all 

of the purposes specified herein; 

(h) to receive, administer and comply with the conditions and requirements 

respecting donations from individuals, public or private entities or from any other source, for any 

or aiJ of the purposes specified herein; 

(i) to receive moneys derived from any energy efficiency improvement or 

renewable energy system including, without limitation, charges and other rnoneys related to 

and/or necessary for the development, operation and repayment, support or enhance,ment of any 

financing for any such improvement or system (together, "Revenues") and to assign, sell or 

pledge. such Revenues to the City or any other entity in furtherance of the purposes referred to 

herein; 

(j) to create or enter into and participate as members in (and in cormection 

therewith, exercise any and all power and right that such membership conveys) limited 

partnerships, limited liability companies, contracts, leases, licenses and 9ther similar 

arrangements, give guarante~s and incur liabilities, borrow money at such rates of interest as the 

Corporation may determine, to secure the payment of any of its debt or other obligations by 

mortgage, pledge or assignment of its Revenues, securities, contracts or property whe rever 

situated, and to amend any such agreement or arrangement relating to the same, in each case 

upon such terms as it may determine; 

(k) to lend money or provide other financing in furtherance of the purposes 

specified herein, invest and reinvest its funds, and take and hold real and personal property as 
.· 

security for the payment of funds so loaned, financed or invested; 

(I) to accrue, assign or pay over to the City, or to such entity as the City may . 

direct, as and to the extent the City may direct, Revenues derived from or in connection with the 

Sustainable Energy Program; and 
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(rri) to perform any and all acts and things, and exercise any and all powers 

which may now or hereafter be lawful for the Corporation to perform or exercise under the laws 

of the State of New York for the purpose of accomplishing ahy of the purposes referred to 

herein. 

FIFTH: Nothing herein shall authorize the Corporation to engage in 

any of the activities mentioned in Section 404(a) through (w) of the Not-For-Profit Corporation 

Law. 

SIXTH: The purposes referred to in paragraph THIRD above will 

achieve the lawful public objective of assisting the City in the implementation of the Sustainable 

Energy Program and providing improved quality of life for the residents of the City. 
I 

/ 

SEVENTH: The duration of the Corporation is to be perpetuaL 

EIGHtH: The Corporation is not fonned for pecuniary profit or for 

financiaL gain. The property of the Corporation is irrevocably dedicated to its charitable 

purposes. All income and earnings of the Corporation shall be used exclusively for its corporate 

purposes. No part of the income or earnings ofthe Corporation shall inure to the benefit or profit 

of, nor shall any distribution of its property or assets be made to any member, director or officer 

of the Corporation;- or private person, corporate or individual, or to any other private interest, 

except that the Corporation shall be authorized to pay reasonable compensation for goods 

purchased or services rendered in connection' with the furtherance of the purposes of the 

- Corporation set forth herein. 

NINTH: (a) No substantial part (within the meaning and for the 

purposes of Sections 50 t (c)(3) and 501 (h) of the Code) of the activities of the Corporation shall 

consist of attempting to influence legislation by propaganda or otherwise. Nor shall the 

Corporation directly or indirectly participate in, or intervene in (including the publishing or 

distributing of statements) any political campaign on behalf of any candidate tor public office. 
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(b) The Corporation shall not engage in any activities not 

permitted to be carried out by an organization exempt from federal income taxation pursuant to 

Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder or by a corporation 

contributions to which are deductible under Section 170( c )(2) of the Code. 

\ 
TENTH: In the event of dissolution of the Corporation or the 

winding up of its affairs, the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall, after paying or making 

provision for the payment of aJI of the debts and liabilities of the Corporation, distribute all of the 

remaining assets and property of the Corporation to (i) the City for a public purpose or (ii) an 

organization described in Section 50l(c)(3) of the Code or whose income is also excludible from . 

·gross income under Section 115(1) of the Code. Any of such assets not so disposed of shall be 

disposed of by order of the Supreme Court of the State ofNew York, pursuant to Section 1008 of 

the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law. 

ELEVENTH: The office of the Corporation shall be located in the County 

ofNew York in the State ofNew York. 

TWELFTH: The Corporation will have Members. The rights and 

conditions of membership will be stated in the By-laws of the Corporation. The By-laws of the 

Corporation may be adopted, amended or repealed by a majority of the Directors of the 

Corporation. 

THIRTEENTH: The Corporation shall be managed by a Board of Directors, 

which shall, prior to the adoption of the Corporation's By-laws, be comprised of those persons 

named below each of whom shall serve as Director until her or his successor has been appointed 

and qualified in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation. The names, offices and 

addresses of the initial Directors of the Corporation, each of whom is of legal age to so act, are as 

follows: 

Name 

David Bragdon 

Office 

Director, Mayor's Office of Long­
Term Planning and Sustainability 

Address 

253 Broadway, l01
h Floor 

New York, New York 10007 
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Stephen Goldsmith Deputy Mayor for Operations City Hall 
New York, New York 10007 

Anthony W. Crowell Counselor to the Mayor City Hall 
New York, New York 10007 

The term "Director" as used herein shall include any alternate director designated 

in accordance with th~ By-laws of the Corporation. Each of the Directors shall serve for the 

term of office provided in the By-laws and shall be removed from office and replaced as 

provided in the By-laws. 

Each meeting of the Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be conducted in 

the manner prescribed by the Open Meetings Law of the State ofNew York (Section 100 et seq. 

of the Public Officers Law of the State of New York) as if the Corporation were a public body 

as defined therein. 

J FOURTEENTH: The Corporation shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless 

each Member, Director, each officer and, to the extent authorized by the Board of Directors; each 

other person authorized to act for the Corporation or on its behalf, to the fullest extent permitted 

under the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law. 

FIFTEENTH: The Secretary of State of the State of New York is 

designated as agent of the Corporation upon whom process against it may be served. The post 

office address to which the Secretary of State shall mail a copy of any process against the 

Corporation served upon the Secretary of State as agent of the Corporation is c/o Chief of the 

Division of Legal Counsel, New York City Law Department, lOO Church Street, New York, 

New York 10007. 

SIXTEENTH: The Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change 

or repeal any proyision contained in this Certificate of Incorporation in any mariner provided by 

statute. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this certificate has been signed this ;h/ . day of 

October, 2010 by the undersigned. 

suS~H.~~ 
NEW YORK CITY LAW DEPARTMENT 

100 CHURCH STREET 

·NEW YORK, NEW YORK l 0007 
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Adopted October 26, 2016 

 

SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS 

OF 

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 
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SIXTH AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS 

OF 

NEW YORK CITY ENERGY EFFICIENCY CORPORATION 

 

ARTICLE I 

 

Membership 

Pursuant to Section 601(a) of the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law (the “N-PCL”) of the 

State of New York, the Corporation does not have members. 

 

ARTICLE II 

 

Board of Directors 

Section 2.01 Powers and Duties.  The Board of Directors (the “Board”) shall manage 

and control the affairs and property of the Corporation.  All corporate powers, except such as are 

otherwise provided for in the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-Laws, or the laws of the 

State of New York, shall be and hereby are vested in and shall be exercised by the Board.  The 

Board shall have full power to adopt rules and regulations governing all actions which it takes, 

except as otherwise provided by the laws of the State of New York, and shall have full authority 

with respect to the distribution and payment of monies received by the Corporation from time to 

time; provided, however, that the fundamental and basic purposes and powers of the Corporation, 

and the limitations thereon, as expressed in the Certificate of Incorporation, as it may be 

amended from time to time, shall not thereby be amended or changed. 
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Section 2.02 Number, Election, Term of Office, Removal and Resignation. 

A.  Number.  The number of Directors shall be fixed by action of a resolution of 

a majority of the entire Board, but shall be no fewer than five nor more than 20 (each a 

“Director” and collectively the “Directors”), such number including the Ex-Officio Directors.  

No decrease in the number of Directors shall serve to diminish the term of any Director then in 

office.  As used in these By-Laws, “entire Board” means the total number of Directors fixed 

by the Board, and that the Corporation would have if there were no vacancies. 

B.  Appointment; Classes; Term.  Each of (i) the Director of the Mayor's Office 

Sustainability, or such other person who is the successor thereof, and (ii) an officeholder or 

employee of the City designated by the Mayor of the City of New York, shall each be an ex-

officio Director of the Corporation  (the “Ex-Officio Directors”). The other Directors (the 

“Elected Directors”) shall be divided into three classes, the members of each class to be 

elected to serve for terms of three years or such lesser period as may be specified at the time of 

election so as to substantially equalize such three classes.  The duration of terms shall be so 

scheduled that the number of seats to be filled shall, so far as practicable, be equal in each 

succeeding year but the fact that classes are not equal in size shall in no way affect the validity 

of the constitution of the Board of Directors or of a Director’s election.  Elected Directors shall 

be elected at the annual meeting of the Board by plurality vote of the Elected Directors and 

may succeed themselves in office.  Except in the event of a resignation, any person serving as 

an Ex-Officio Director shall continue as a Directors for so long as he or she shall remain in the 

position with the City applicable to such Ex-Officio Director. 
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  The term of office of each Elected Director shall commence upon election and 

terminate at the close of the annual meeting of the Board in the year that such Director’s term 

expires or until his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.  Vacancies occurring on the 

Board of Directors for any reason, including newly-created Directorships, may be filled by the 

vote of a majority of the Directors then in office, whether or not a quorum.  A Director elected to 

fill a vacancy (whether caused by resignation, death, or removal or the creation of new 

Directorships) shall be elected to hold office until the next annual meeting of the Board at which 

the election of Directors is in the regular order of business at which time the Board shall vote to 

place such Director in a class.  All Directors are eligible for unlimited reelection. 

C.  Removal.  Any Elected Director may be removed, with cause, by an 

affirmative vote of a majority of the entire Board of Directors if notice of the proposed removal 

action was included in the written notice of such meeting.   

D.  Resignation.  Any Director may resign at any time by giving written notice 

of such resignation to the Chairperson of the Corporation.  Unless otherwise specified in the 

notice, the resignation shall take effect upon receipt by the Chairperson and acceptance of the 

resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.  If an Ex-Officio Director resigns, the 

directorship shall remain empty until a new person is named by the Mayor of the City of New 

York (or such other officeholder who has the right to appoint persons to such office) to the 

position giving rise to the ex-officio directorship.   

Section 2.03  Annual Meetings.  The annual meeting of the Board shall be held 

at such times and places as the Board of Directors may from time to time determine..  Written 

notice of the date, time and place of the annual meeting shall be given by first class or overnight 
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mail, overnight delivery service, personal delivery or email at least ten days in advance of the 

annual meeting date.  The President and Treasurer shall present at each annual meeting of the 

Board their reports, which shall set forth the statements and be verified or certified in the manner 

prescribed by Sections 513 and 519 of the N-PCL, including the following: 

(a) The assets and liabilities, including the trust funds, of the Corporation as of the end 

of a twelve month fiscal period terminating not more than six months prior to the 

meeting. 

(b) The principal changes in assets and liabilities, including trust funds, during such 

fiscal period. 

(c) The revenue or receipts of the Corporation, both unrestricted and restricted to 

particular purposes, during such fiscal period. 

(d) The expenses or disbursements of the Corporation, for both general and restricted 

purposes, during said fiscal period. 

(e) Information about assets received for specific purposes for which an annual report 

is required pursuant to §513 of the N-PCL.   

Such reports shall be filed with the records of the Corporation and either a copy or an abstract 

thereof entered in the minutes of the proceedings of such annual meeting of the Board. 

Section 2.04  Regular Meetings.  Regular meetings shall be held at such intervals 

and at such times and places as the Board may determine.  Written notice stating the date, time 

and place of the meeting shall be given in the same manner as notices for the annual meetings of 

the Board at least ten days in advance of the regular meeting date. 

 Section 2.05  Special Meetings.  Special meetings of the Board may be called for 

any date, time and place by the Chairperson, or by the Secretary upon written demand of a 

majority of the Directors then in office.  Written notice stating the date, time, place, and the 

purpose or purposes for which the special meeting is called shall be given in the same manner as 

notices for annual meetings of the Board to all Directors at least ten days prior to the scheduled 
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date of the special meeting; provided, however, if it is determined by the Chairperson that there 

is an emergency which requires immediate board action, a meeting may be called on 24 hour 

notice given by personal delivery or email.  Except as otherwise provided in these By-Laws, any 

business may be transacted at any duly called Board meeting.   

Section 2.06  Waiver of Notice.  Notice of any meeting need not be given to any 

Director who submits a signed waiver of notice, whether before or after the meeting.  Attendance 

of a Director at any meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of the meeting except where a 

Director attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business 

because the meeting is not lawfully called. 

Section 2.07  Quorum and Alternate Directors.  At all meetings of the Board, 

one-third of the entire Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business; provided, 

however, that Elected Directors constitute a majority of the Directors in attendance.  Each Ex-

Officio Director may from time to time appoint an alternate Ex-Officio Director to attend 

meetings in lieu of the Ex-Officio Director by written notice to the Secretary of the Corporation 

identifying such alternate Director.  An alternate Director so designated shall have the right to 

attend meetings of the Board and to exercise therein all the rights, powers and privileges of the 

absent Director.  When so exercising such rights, powers and privileges of the absent Director, 

such alternate Director shall be subject in all respects to the provisions of the N-PCL governing 

directors. 

Section 2.08  Action of the Board; Attendance by Telecommunications.  The 

action of a majority of the Directors present at the time of a vote, if a quorum is present at such 

time, shall be the act of the Board, except as otherwise provided by these By-Laws, the 

PAAA Annual Report: Page 131 of 187



 

-6- 

 

Certificate of Incorporation, any Board-approved policy or any applicable statute, including, 

without limitation, Sections 509 (which generally requires that certain real estate related actions 

be approved by two-thirds of the entire Board), 712 (which requires that Board standing 

committees and their members be designated by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire 

Board), and 715 (which requires that the salaries of officers be approved by a majority of the 

entire Board if not established in or pursuant to the by-laws) of the N-PCL.  Any Director may 

participate in a meeting of the Board or committee by means of a conference telephone, video 

conference or similar communications equipment allowing all persons participating in the 

meeting to hear all other persons participating in the meeting at the same time.  Each Director 

shall have one vote.  Directors may not vote by proxy.   

Section 2.09  Action by Written Consent of Directors.  Any action required or 

permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof may be 

taken without a meeting if all members of the Board of Directors or the committee consent in 

writing (including electronic mail or facsimile telecommunication) to the adoption of a resolution 

authorizing such action.  If provided in writing, the consent must be executed by the Director or 

the committee member, as applicable, by signing such consent or causing his or her signature to 

be affixed to such consent by any reasonable means including, but not limited to, facsimile 

signature.  If provided via electronic mail, the transmission of such consent must set forth, or be 

submitted with, information from which it can reasonably be determined that the transmission 

was authorized by the Director or the committee member, as applicable.  Such resolution and 

written consents thereto shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board of Directors 

or the committee. 
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Section 2.10.  Adjournment.  At any meeting of the Board, whether or not a 

quorum is present, a majority of the Directors present may adjourn the meeting to another time 

and place; provided, however, that such Directors notify any absent Director of the new meeting 

time and location.  At any such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present, any business 

may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called. 

Section 2.11.  Conduct of the Meeting.  At all meetings of the Board, the 

Chairperson of the Corporation shall preside, or in the Chairperson’s absence, a Vice 

Chairperson designated by the Chairperson shall preside.  The Secretary of the Corporation shall 

act as secretary at all meetings of the Board.  In the absence of the Secretary, the presiding 

officer shall appoint any individual present to act as secretary of the meeting. 

Section 2.12.  Compensation.  Directors shall serve without salary for their 

services as such.  The Board of Directors may authorize reimbursement of expenses incurred by 

Directors in the performance of their duties.  Nothing in these By-Laws shall be construed to 

preclude any Director from serving the Corporation in any other capacity and receiving 

compensation for services performed in such capacity. 

 Section 2.13.  Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions. The 

Corporation shall adopt a conflict of interest policy in conformity with the requirements of the 

N-PCL. All related party transactions (as defined in the N-PCL) shall be approved only as set 

forth in the Corporation’s conflict of interest policy. Any related party transaction in violation of 

the related party transactions provisions of such policy shall be deemed void or voidable. 
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 Section 2.14.   Audits. 

   (a) Procedure. If the Corporation is required to file audited financial 

statements under the New York State Executive Law with the Charities Bureau of the 

Department of Law, either an Audit Committee composed of at least three independent 

Directors, another Board committee composed of at least three independent Directors or the 

Board of Directors shall undertake the actions described in this section. Only independent 

Directors may participate in any Board or committee deliberations or voting relating to audits.  

Directors who are not independent may serve on such committee only in an adjunct capacity and 

any such persons may not participate in any discussion, deliberation or vote on any matter and 

may not be present when the work performed or overseen by such person is being reviewed or 

discussed.  

   (b)  Definitions.  An “independent Director” is an individual who meets 

all of the following criteria:  

• has not been an employee of, or does not have a relative that was a key employee of, 

the Corporation or an affiliate of the Corporation in the past three years;  

• has not received, or does not have a relative that has received, $10,000 or more in 

direct compensation from the Corporation or an affiliate in the last three years (other 

than expense reimbursement or reasonable compensation as a Director);  

• is not a current employee of or does not have a substantial financial interest in an 

entity that made or received payments from the Corporation or an affiliate for 

property or services  in any one of the last three fiscal years of more than $25,000 or 

2% of the Corporation’s gross revenue (whichever is less); and  
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• does not have a relative who is a current officer of, or has a substantial interest in, an 

entity making or receiving payments of a similar amount to the Corporation in any of 

the past three years. 

Payments in this context do not include charitable contributions. For purposes of these By-Laws, 

“relative” means a person’s (a) spouse, ancestor, whole and half sibling, natural and adopted 

child, grandchild, great-grandchild and spouse of such sibling and descendant and (b) such 

person’s domestic partner as defined in the Public Health Law and “key employee”  means any 

person who is in a position to exercise substantial influence over the affairs of the Corporation, 

as referenced in 26 U.S.C. § 4958(f)(1)(A) and further specified in 26 CFR § 53.4958-3(c), (d) 

and (e), or succeeding provisions.    

  (c)  Audit Function.  The Audit Committee or, if there is no Audit Committee, the 

other committee or the independent Directors shall (i) oversee the accounting and financial 

reporting processes of the Corporation; (ii) oversee any independent financial audit or review, 

including annually retain or renew the retention of an independent auditor to conduct the audit or 

review, review the results of the audit or review and any related management letter (as well as 

management’s responses thereto) with the independent auditor at the conclusion of the audit or 

review and, if the Corporation had annual revenue in excess of $1,000,000 in the prior fiscal year 

(or expects to have such revenue in the current fiscal year), (A) review with such independent 

auditor the proposed scope and planning of the audit prior to the audit’s commencement, (B) 

upon completion of the audit, review and discuss with the independent auditor any material risks 

and weaknesses in internal controls identified by the auditor, any restrictions on the scope of the 

auditor’s activities or access to requested information, any significant disagreements between the 

auditor and management, and the adequacy of the organization’s accounting and financial 
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reporting processes, (C) annually consider the performance and independence of the auditor and 

(D) report back to the Board with respect to the committee’s audit oversight duties, and (iii) 

oversee the adoption, implementation of, and compliance with, any conflict of interest policy or 

whistleblower policy adopted by the Corporation (unless this function is already being performed 

by another Board committee consisting solely of independent Directors) and otherwise monitor 

compliance with any other corporate codes of conduct or ethics and establish policies and 

practices to prevent financial fraud including monitoring the Corporation’s internal control over 

financial reporting and request special investigations if deemed appropriate. The Audit 

Committee may investigate any matter brought to its attention within the scope of its duties, with 

the power to retain outside counsel for this purpose if, in its judgment, that is appropriate.  The 

Audit Committee will promptly report any such actions, and the results of any such investigation, 

to (or as otherwise directed by) the Board of Directors or any Executive Committee. 

ARTICLE III 

 

Committees 

Section 3.01 Board Committees.  There shall be an Executive Committee, Governance 

and Human Resource Committee, and Audit and Finance Committee, as further described in 

Sections 3.02, 3.03, and 3.04 respectively of this Article III, and the Board, by resolution adopted 

by a majority of the entire Board, may designate other Board committees, each of which shall 

consist of at least three Directors.  Each member of the Executive Committee, Governance and 

Human Resource Committee, and Audit and Finance Committee, and any other Board 

committees shall be designated by a majority of the entire Board, and shall serve at the pleasure 

of the Board, which shall also have full discretion in determining the number of members of such 

committees.  Board committees shall have the powers specifically provided in these By-Laws or 
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the resolutions creating them; provided, however, that no such committee of the Board shall have 

authority as to (i) filling vacancies in the Board or any committees, (ii) fixing compensation of 

the Directors for serving on the Board or on any committee, (iii) amending or repealing these 

By-Laws or adopting new By-Laws, (iv) amending or repealing any Board resolution which by 

its terms shall not be so amendable or repealable, or (v) conducting any other activities expressly 

prohibited by law. 

Section 3.02 Executive Committee. 

A.  Composition.  The Executive Committee shall consist of the Chairperson, 

any Vice Chairperson(s), (and, if members of the Board, any President, any Vice Presidents, 

the Secretary, and the Treasurer), chairs of all Board Committees from time to time, and such 

other Directors of the Corporation as the Board may determine, each of whom shall be 

designated by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board. 

B.  Powers and Authority.  Except as otherwise provided by law and in these 

By-Laws, the Executive Committee shall have and may exercise all of the powers and 

authority of the Board, and shall act in its stead between meetings of the Board of Directors.  

The Executive Committee shall notify the entire Board of any actions it takes or decisions it 

makes, other than those in the ordinary course of operations, within a reasonable time 

thereafter but in any event by the time of the next meeting of the Board of Directors.   

Section 3.03 Governance and Human Resource Committee. 

A.  Composition.  The Governance and Human Resource Committee shall 

consist of the Chairperson and at least two other Directors each of whom shall be designated 
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by resolution adopted by a majority of the entire Board. At least three members of the 

Governance and Human Resource Committee shall be Independent and Independent members 

shall, at all times, constitute a majority of such Committee.  For purposes of these By-Laws a 

Director shall be “Independent” if such Director meets the standards for independent directors 

set forth in Section 2.14.  

B.  Powers and Authority.  The Governance and Human Resource Committee 

shall have the power and authority to review and, as appropriate, recommend for revision, the 

Corporation’s governance and personnel policies and practices and oversee, at a policy level, 

all governance and employee-related matters; approve the compensation strategy of the 

Corporation, consistent with the Corporation’s mission and values; review management 

proposals regarding compensation and benefits programs to ensure such programs support the 

Corporation’s established strategy; review comparable compensation and benefits data of 

similar organizations,  review and evaluate the performance of executives of the Corporation 

and set guidelines for and approve, by the affirmative vote of a majority of the entire 

committee, compensation for all Officers and all other employees who are “disqualified 

persons” within the meaning of Section 4958 of the Internal Revenue Code; approve strategies 

and plans for merit pay/incentives/severance pay and any unusual compensation arrangements 

that may arise; and promptly document any determinations.  

Section 3.04 Audit and Finance Committee. 

A.  Designation and Composition.  The Audit and Finance Committee shall 

consist of at least three Directors, each of whom shall be designated by resolution adopted by a 

majority of the entire Board.  At least three members of the Audit and Finance Committee shall 
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be Independent, and Independent members shall, at all times, constitute a majority of such 

Committee. 

B.  Powers and Authority.  The Audit and Finance Committee shall have the 

power and authority to review periodically the financial condition of the Corporation, including 

a review of budgets, financial statements, reports of accounts and investments of the 

Corporation’s funds.  The Audit and Finance Committee shall monitor the Corporation’s 

financial planning, systems of accounting controls, and the disbursement of funds. 

       If there are any members of the Audit and Finance Committee who are not 

Independent, then the Board shall create an Audit Subcommittee.  The Audit Subcommittee shall 

composed of all of the Independent members of the Audit and Finance Committee and shall 

perform the duties set forth in Section 2.14. 

       The Audit and Finance Committee shall be responsible for the preservation 

and enhancement of assets; shall cause to be prepared an annual budget for the Corporation, 

subject to Board approval; shall supervise investments (which do not include loans, credit 

enhancements and any financing arrangements made for program related purposes) and advise 

on matters of financial policy, fund raising and expenditures; and shall annually review the 

Corporation’s directors’ and officers’ indemnification insurance and make certain it is in force.  

The Committee, either as a full committee or through a subcommittee on investments, shall 

cause a policy with respect to its institutional funds (which do not include loans, credit 

enhancements and any financing arrangements made for program related purposes) to be adopted 

by the Board of Directors as required by the N-PCL and periodically review and perform its 

responsibilities pursuant to such policy as appropriate. 
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C.  Annual Audit Report.  The chairperson of the Audit Subcommittee shall 

report to the Board on the results of the annual audit of the Corporation’s financial statements 

(the “Annual Audit Report”), which the Board shall consider for approval.  The Treasurer 

and President will also meet with and provide financial updates to the Audit and Finance 

Committee of the Board on a regular basis throughout each fiscal year. 

Section 3.05 Quorum and Procedure.  At least 50% of all of the voting members of any 

Board committee shall constitute a quorum at any meeting thereof; provided, however, that at 

least two of such voting members are in attendance and that Elected Directors constitute a 

majority of the Directors in attendance.  The action of a majority of the committee members 

present at a meeting of the committee at which a quorum exists shall be the act of the committee, 

except as otherwise provided by these By-Laws, the Certificate of Incorporation or any 

applicable statute. Other procedures of such committees shall be governed by rules fixed by the 

Board or, if not set by the Board, as fixed by the committee.  Each member of a Board committee 

shall serve at the pleasure of the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors may appoint 

alternate members of any standing committee to act as substitutes for any absent member at 

meetings of such committee.  Each Committee shall keep minutes of its meetings and keep 

records or prepare reports of its decisions and actions, and each committee chair shall submit the 

same to the Board of Directors prior to the next Board meeting, if such Board meeting is to be 

held more than two weeks after the committee meeting.  If the next Board meeting is to be held 

less than two weeks after the committee meeting, the committee chair shall either submit the 

minutes, records, or reports relating to the committee meeting to the Board of Directors or shall 

cause a report concerning the meeting to be verbally presented at the next Board meeting. 
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Section 3.06 Non-Director Committee Members.  In addition to the Directors on any 

committee, the Board, by resolution adopted by a majority of the Board, may designate as a non-

voting adjunct, on any committee except the Executive Committee, any person who is not a 

Director of the Corporation but who has relevant expertise on such committee’s power and 

authority.  Any such designation shall be for a one year term, subject to renewal by the Board at 

its annual meeting.  Such adjuncts shall not count for determining whether a quorum is present at 

any meeting and shall not vote on any action of the Committee. 

Section 3.07 Committees of the Corporation.  Committees of the Corporation, if any, 

may be established by the Board of Directors and the members thereof (who do not need to be 

Directors) shall be elected in the same manner as officers of the Corporation or appointed by the 

Chairperson or as otherwise set forth at the time of formation of such committees. Such 

committees shall act in an advisory capacity or shall function to conduct events or activities of 

the Corporation; they shall have no authority to act on behalf of the Board of Directors or set 

corporate policy. 

ARTICLE IV 

 

Officers 

Section 4.01 Officers.  The officers of the Corporation will consist of a Chairperson, a 

President, a Treasurer, a Secretary and such other officers as may be elected by the Board from 

time to time (each, an “Officer” and, collectively, the “Officers”).  The same person may not 

simultaneously hold the offices of both President and Secretary or both the President and 

Treasurer.  Except as set forth below, each Officer will be elected annually by the Board.  Each 
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Officer shall serve at the pleasure of the Board or until his or her prior death, resignation or 

removal. Any vacancy occurring in any office may be filled at any ensuing meeting of the Board. 

Section 4.02 Chairperson.  The Chairperson of the Board of Directors shall preside at 

all meetings of the Board of Directors. If no President is elected, or if elected, in the President’s 

absence or inability to act, the Chairperson shall have the same powers and duties of the 

President of the Corporation.  The Chairperson must be a member of the Board of Directors. An 

employee of the Corporation shall not be eligible to serve as Board Chairperson (or in any office 

with similar responsibilities). 

Section 4.03 President.  The President will be the chief executive officer of the 

Corporation and will have general charge and supervision of the business and affairs of the 

Corporation, subject to the control and direction of the Board.  The President will keep the Board 

fully informed concerning the affairs of the Corporation, and will freely consult with members of 

the Board concerning the activities thereof. The President will perform such other duties as are 

incident to his or her office or as are assigned to him or her by the Board or the Chairperson. 

Section 4.04 Treasurer.  The Treasurer will be charged with the care and custody of all 

the moneys and securities of the Corporation.  He or she will cause to be deposited moneys 

received by him or her for the Corporation as provided in Section 5.01 hereof.  He or she will 

cause to be entered in books of the Corporation to be kept for that purpose, full and accurate 

accounts of all moneys received by him or her and paid by him or her on account of the 

Corporation.  He or she will render a statement of the condition of the finances of the 

Corporation at any annual meeting of the Board as provided by Section 519(c) of the N-PCL or 

at such other time as the Board shall require.  He or she will make an annual report to the Board 
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concerning assets held for a specific purpose, the use made of such assets and the income thereof 

as provided in Section 513(b) of the N-PCL.  He or she will make and sign such reports, 

statements and instruments as may be required of him or her by law or the Board, and will 

perform such other duties as are incident to his or her office or as are properly required of him or 

her by the Board or the President. 

Section 4.05 Secretary.  The Secretary will act as Secretary of each meeting of the 

Board.  In the absence of the Secretary, the presiding Officer of the meeting will appoint a 

secretary of the meeting.  In addition, the Secretary will (or cause someone else to): 

A. Record and keep the minutes of all meetings of the Board and Executive 

Committee and shall record all actions taken by the Board and Executive Committee in 

accordance with Article 3 hereof, in each case, in books to be kept for that purpose; 

B. Ensure that all notices and reports are duly given or filed pursuant to these By-

Laws or as required by law; 

C. Be custodian of the records (other than financial) and have charge of the seal 

of the Corporation and ensure that it is used upon all papers or documents whose execution on 

behalf of the Corporation under its seal is required by law or required pursuant to these By-Laws; 

and 

D. In general, perform all duties incident to the office of Secretary and such other 

duties as the Chairperson or the Board may from time to time assign to the Secretary. 

Section 4.06 Removal.  Any Officer may be removed, either with or without cause, at 

any meeting of Directors, notice of which will have referred to the proposed action. 
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Section 4.07 Execution of Contracts, Deeds and Agreements.  All authorized contracts, 

deeds and agreements shall be executed in the name of the Corporation by the President, 

Treasurer, Secretary or another Officer of the Corporation designated by the President or the 

Board. 

Section 4.08 Execution of Checks, Notes, Drafts and Other Negotiable Instruments.  

All authorized checks, notes, drafts and other negotiable instruments shall be executed in the 

name of the Corporation by the President, Treasurer, Secretary or another Officer of the 

Corporation designated by the President or the Board and must be co-signed by one of the 

President, Treasurer, Secretary or another authorized individual designated by the President or 

the Board if the amount is in excess of any limit as shall be established by the Board of 

Directors.  No one person may both execute and co-sign the same instrument. 

Section 4.09 Compensation.  The Corporation may pay its Officers, agents and 

employees compensation commensurate with their services, and reimbursement for expenses 

incurred in the performance of their duties.  No loans shall be made by the Corporation to any of 

its Directors or Officers or to any entity in which one or more of its Directors or Officers is also a 

director or officer or holds a substantial financial interest, except for a loan to another charitable 

corporation. 

ARTICLE V 

 

Finances and Records 

Section 5.01 Finances.  The funds of the Corporation will be deposited in its name with 

such bank or banks, trust company or trust companies as the Board may from time to time 

designate.  Except as provided in Section 4.08 hereof, no Officer, alone or with others, will have 
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the power to make any checks, notes, drafts or other negotiable instruments in the name of the 

Corporation or to bind the Corporation thereby. 

Section 5.02 Investments.  The funds of the Corporation may be retained in whole or in 

part in cash, or may be invested and reinvested from time to time in such property, real, personal 

or otherwise, or stocks, bonds or other securities, as the Board may deem desirable. 

Section 5.03 Keeping and Inspection of Records.  There will be kept, at the 

principal office of the Corporation, a complete set of books and records of the Corporation.  

They will include, but not be limited to, the Certificate of Incorporation, these By-Laws, minutes 

of all meetings of, and all unanimous written consents by, the members and the Board of 

Directors, any Executive  Committee and any Audit Committee (and any other committee or 

subcommittee exercising the authority of an audit committee) and any other committees of the 

Board taking action in lieu of action by the Board, and such other books, records and papers of 

the Corporation as the Board will require.  These records will be open to inspection during 

business hours by any Director within ten business days after receipt by the President of a written 

request for such inspection. 

ARTICLE VI 

 

Indemnification 

Section 6.01 Indemnification of Directors and Officers.  To the maximum extent 

permitted by law, the Corporation will indemnify, and the Corporation will advance expenses of, 

each Director as described in Article II hereof and each Officer as described in Article IV hereof, 

whether or not then in office, each of its employees and agents designated for indemnification by 

the Board within its discretion, and each person serving at the request of the Corporation as a 
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director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or 

other enterprise (hereinafter all referred to more generally as “directors and officers”) who was 

or is a party or threatened to be made a party, to any threatened, pending or completed action, 

suit or proceeding, whether civil or criminal, administrative or investigative, whether by or in the 

right of the Corporation or not, in a manner and to the fullest extent now or hereafter permitted 

by the N-PCL, and arising out of (a) any transaction of the Corporation or (b) any act or failure 

to act by such Director, Officer or employee who engaged in the discharge of his or her duties on 

behalf of the Corporation.  The right to be indemnified or to the advancement or reimbursement 

of expenses pursuant to these By-Laws is a contract right pursuant to which the person entitled 

thereto may bring suit as if the provisions hereof or of any such resolution were set forth in a 

separate written contract between the Corporation and such person, and shall continue to exist 

after any rescission or restrictive modification hereof or of any such resolution with respect to 

events occurring prior thereto. 

Section 6.02 Non-Exclusive.  Every reference in this Article VI to directors and officers 

of the Corporation or other entities shall include every director and officer thereof or former 

director and officer thereof.  The rights of indemnification provided herein shall be in addition to 

any and all rights to which any director or officer otherwise might be entitled, and the provisions 

hereof shall neither impair or adversely affect such rights. 

ARTICLE VII 

 

Miscellaneous 

Section 7.01 Form of Corporate Seal.  The seal of the Corporation will be circular in 

form with the words “New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation” in the outer circle and the 
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words “Corporate Seal 2010 New York” in the inner circle.  The seal on any corporate obligation 

for the payment of money may be facsimile, engraved or printed. 

Section 7.02 Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the Corporation will end on June 30th, 

unless otherwise provided by the Board. 

Section 7.03 Amendment of By-Laws.  Except as otherwise required by Section 709 of 

the N-PCL (regarding adding or deleting a provision which sets the proportion of Directors that 

shall constitute a quorum or the proportion of votes of Directors which shall be necessary for the 

transaction of business or of a specified item of business at a level greater than that set by the N-

PCL, which requires approval by a vote of two-thirds of the entire Board), or other provisions of 

applicable law, these By-Laws may be amended, repealed or replaced at any meeting of the 

Board by a majority vote of the entire Board; provided, however, that any change to clause (b)(i) 

or clause (b)(ii) of Section 1.01 shall also require the approval of the Director noted in such 

clause.    

Section 7.04 Notice of Amendments.  Notice of the proposed amendment or 

amendments shall be included in the notices of meeting given to the Board.  No action shall be 

taken to alter or amend the By-Laws that would adversely affect the qualification of the 

Corporation as an organization (i) exempt from Federal income taxation under Section 501(a) of 

the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), as an organization described in 

Code Section 501(c)(3), and (ii) contributions to which are deductible under Code Section 

170(c)(2). 
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ARTICLE VIII 

 

Limitations 

Section 8.01 Exempt Activities.  Notwithstanding any other provision of these By-

Laws, no Director, Officer, committee member, employee or representative of the Corporation 

shall take any action or carry on any activity by or on behalf of the Corporation not permitted to 

be taken or carried on by an organization (i) exempt from Federal income taxation under Code 

Section 501(a), as an organization described in Code Section 501(c)(3), and (ii) contributions to 

which are deductible under Code Section 170(c)(2). 

Section 8.02 Prohibition Against Sharing in Corporate Earnings.  No Director, Officer 

or employee of, or other person connected with, the Corporation, or any other private individual, 

shall receive at any time any of the net earnings or pecuniary profit from the operations of the 

Corporation; provided however that this shall not prevent either the payment to any such person 

of reasonable compensation for services rendered to or for the benefit of the Corporation or the 

reimbursement of expenses incurred by any such person on behalf of the Corporation, in 

connection with effecting any of the purposes of the Corporation; and no such person or persons 

shall be entitled to share in the distribution of any of the corporate assets upon the dissolution of 

the Corporation. All such persons shall be deemed to have expressly consented and agreed that 

upon such dissolution or winding up of the affairs of the Corporation, whether voluntary or 

involuntary, the assets of the Corporation, after all debts have been satisfied, then remaining in 

the hands of the Board, shall be distributed, transferred, conveyed, delivered and paid over, in 

such amounts as the Board may determine, or as may be determined by a court of competent 

jurisdiction upon the application of the Board, exclusively to charitable, religious, scientific, 

literary or educational organizations (i) which then qualify for exemption from Federal income 
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taxation under the provisions of Code Section 501(c)(3) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder 

(as they now exist or as they hereafter may be amended), and (ii) contributions to which are 

deductible under Code Section 170(c)(2) and the Treasury Regulations thereunder (as they now 

exist or as they hereafter may be amended). 

ARTICLE IX 

Conflicts of Interest 

All Directors and Officers shall comply with the Corporation’s Conflicts of Interest 

Policy. 
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FY2019 

Results of NYCEEC Board Performance Evaluation 

 

Name of Authority:  New York City Energy Efficiency Corporation 

Date Completed:  August 5, 2020 

 
 

Criteria 
Strongly 

Agree 
 

Agree Disagree Strongly 
Disagree 

Board members have a shared understanding of the 

mission and purpose of the Authority. 

7 
 

1 
 

 
 

 
 

The policies, practices and decisions of the Board are 

always consistent with this mission. 

6 2   

Board members comprehend their role and fiduciary 

responsibilities and hold themselves and each other to 

these principles. 

6 2   

The Board has adopted policies, by-laws, and practices for 
the effective governance, management and operations of 
the Authority and reviews these annually. 

6 2   

The Board sets clear and measurable performance goals for 

the Authority that contribute to accomplishing its mission. 

2 6   

The decisions made by Board members are arrived at 
through independent judgment and deliberation, free of 
political influence or self- interest. 

6 2   

Individual Board members communicate effectively with 

executive staff so as to be well informed on the status of 

all important issues. 

4 4   

Board members are knowledgeable about the Authority’s 

programs, financial statements, reporting requirements, 

and other transactions. 

4 4   

The Board meets to review and approve all documents and 
reports prior to public release and is confident that the 

information being presented is accurate and complete. 

2 5 1  

The Board knows the statutory obligations of the Authority 

and if the Authority is in compliance with state law. 

3 5   

Board and committee meetings facilitate open, deliberate 

and thorough discussion, and the active participation of 

members. 

5 3   

Board members have sufficient opportunity to research, 
discuss, question and prepare before decisions are made 
and votes taken. 

4 4   

Individual Board members feel empowered to delay votes, 

defer agenda items, or table actions if they feel additional 
information or discussion is required. 

3 5   

The Board exercises appropriate oversight of the CEO and 
other executive staff, including setting performance 
expectations and reviewing performance annually. 

5 3   

The Board has identified the areas of most risk to the 

Authority and works with management to implement risk 

mitigation strategies before problems occur. 

3 4 1  

Board members demonstrate leadership and vision and 

work respectfully with each other. 

6 2   
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